ALPs, the on-shell way

Enrico Bertuzzo,^{*a,b*} Christophe Grojean,^{*c,d,e*} Gabriel M. Salla^{*a,c*}

^aInstituto de Física, Universidade de São Paulo, C.P. 66.318, 05315-970 São Paulo, Brazil ^bDipartimento di Scienze Fisiche, Informatiche e Matematiche, Università di Modena e Reg-

gio Emilia, via G. Campi 213/A, 41125 Modena, Italy

^cDeutsches Elektronen-Synchrotron DESY, Notkestr. 85, 22607 Hamburg, Germany

^dInstitut für Physik, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, 12489 Berlin, Germany

^e Theoretical Theoretical Physics Department, CERN, 1211 Geneva 23, Switzerland

ABSTRACT: We study how the coupling between axion-like particles (ALPs) and matter can be obtained at the level of on-shell scattering amplitudes. We identify three conditions that allow us to compute amplitudes that correspond to shift-symmetric Lagrangians, at the level of operators with dimension 5 or higher, and we discuss how they relate and extend the Adler's zero condition. These conditions are necessary to reduce the number of coefficients consistent with the little-group scaling to the one expected from the Lagrangian approach. We also show how our formalism easily explains that the dimension-5 interaction involving one ALP and two massless spin-1 bosons receive corrections from higher order operators only when the ALP has a non-vanishing mass. As a direct application of our results, we perform a phenomenological study of the inelastic scattering $\ell^+\ell^- \rightarrow \phi h$ (with ℓ^{\pm} two charged leptons, ϕ the ALP and h the Higgs boson) for which, as a result of the structure of the 3-point and 4-point amplitudes, dimension-7 operators can dominate over the dimension-5 ones well before the energy reaches the cutoff of the theory.

Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	ALP couplings to matter	4
	2.1 General remarks	4
	2.2 Scalars	7
	2.3 Fermions	8
	2.4 Vectors	9
	2.5 Fermions - Many species case	10
	2.6 Multiple soft limit	13
3	ALP interactions with the SM particles	13
	3.1 ϕVV amplitudes	15
	3.2 Fermions and EWSB	18
4	Constructing higher-point functions	21
	4.1 Contact amplitudes	21
	4.2 Corrections to photon and gluon couplings	27
5	A phenomenological application : $\ell^-\ell^+ \to \phi h$	28
6	Conclusions	31
\mathbf{A}	Conventions	33
	A.1 Spinor variables	33
	A.2 Construction of amplitudes	37
	A.3 CPT invariance and unitarity	38
	A.4 Feynman rules with spinor variables	38
	A.5 SM amplitudes	39
в	Yukawa - Mass connection	40
\mathbf{C}	One-loop running of $\mathcal{A}[\phi\psi\bar{\psi}H]$	42

1 Introduction

In recent years, the study of modern on-shell methods [1-5], together with their application to phenomenological issues, has been gaining much attention and giving fruitful results. Without a doubt, the most innovative feature of these methods consists of writing down scattering amplitudes by relying on nothing but the covariance of the Smatrix under little-group transformations of the Lorentz group [6], thus putting aside the need for fields and Lagrangians. The consequences and applications of the on-shell approach are far-reaching. On the phenomenological side, much progress has been made, for instance, in the computation of loop-integrals and anomalous dimensions [7– 13, in the understanding of the Standard Model (SM) and of Effective Field Theories (EFTs) [14–33], in the study of the physics of higher-spin dark-matter [34, 35] and also in the formulation of neutrino oscillations [36]. One less pursued question is that of establishing a precise connection between the physical properties of infra-red (IR) onshell amplitudes to the physics of the ultra-violet (UV) [14, 22, 28, 37–40]. In the Lagrangian approach, the different assumptions about the UV dynamics are translated in the IR to specific EFTs and power counting (e.q. SILH[41], HEFT[42]), giving us much more control over the properties of the low-energy amplitudes. The same exercise still needs to be carried out in a systematic way in the on-shell approach, in which the UV properties are reconstructed from the IR amplitudes.

Along these lines, an interesting problem that can be studied using on-shell methods is the one concerning the physics of axion-like particles (ALPs). From the usual quantum field theoretical perspective, it is well known that ALP interactions must be invariant under a shift-symmetry if the underlying global symmetry is exact. This has extensive physical consequences, among which the existence of *soft-theorems* and the appearance of the so-called *Adler's zero*, which state that amplitudes involving ALPs (or, equivalently, Nambu–Goldstone bosons) and amplitudes involving ALPs and other particles are either regular or vanish in the limit in which the ALP momentum becomes soft [43–46]. Previous studies in the literature have shown how, using on-shell techniques, amplitudes involving only exactly massless ALPs make manifest the previously mentioned soft-theorems [47], as well as Adler's zero conditions [39, 40, 48–50]. In addition, it is possible to read off from IR properties of these ALPs amplitudes the structure of the coset group associated to the spontaneous symmetry breaking in the UV [38].

Two questions that have remained unanswered in the literature are: what happens when we consider couplings between ALPs and matter? What are the physical properties that these amplitudes must satisfy in order to recover shift-symmetry? Stated in another way: the Adler's zero condition is a necessary requirement that an amplitude involving ALPs must satisfy, but it may not be enough to completely characterize the interactions between ALPs and matter. What we seek to find in this work are possible additional conditions that completely pinpoint the ALP-matter interactions. Given that on-shell methods allow us to write the amplitudes without assuming any Lagrangian or symmetry, they are the ideal framework to approach this question.

In this paper, we continue to further explore this direction and investigate the coupling between ALPs and other matter particles, including the SM ones. We will first reproduce the well-known results of ALP 3-point couplings to massive fermions and vectors, which in the Lagrangian approach emerge from operators of the form $(\partial_{\mu}\phi)\bar{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\gamma^{5}\psi$ and $\phi V\tilde{V}$, where ϕ is the ALP, ψ any massive fermion, V a field strength tensor and \tilde{V} denotes the dual field strength (to be defined below). We will then uplift these amplitudes to 3- and 4-point amplitudes involving SM particles in the unbroken electroweak phase. Understanding the properties of the simplest scattering amplitudes of ALPs and matter particles will allow us to generalize this procedure and construct higher-point functions in a systematic way.

The paper is organized as follows. In Section 2, we formulate our approach in terms of on-shell methods and apply it to generic 3-point amplitudes involving one ALP. We discuss how we could generalize our procedure to higher-point amplitudes involving more ALPs and the difficulties involved. In Section 3, we match the massive amplitudes in the IR to the massless ones in the UV, while specializing to the SM particle content, discussing also how to handle electroweak symmetry breaking effects. We also comment on the physical interpretation of the shift-symmetry breaking invariants introduced in Ref. [51]. In Section 4, we build higher-point contact amplitudes up to dimension 8 in the ALP scale, while some phenomenological applications are discussed in Section 5. In particular, we study the production of an ALP in association with a Higgs in a lepton collider, $\ell^-\ell^+ \to \phi h$, and show that higher-order contact operators can give the leading contribution to the cross-section at high-energies. Finally, we conclude in Section 6. We also add a number of appendices with more technical material: in Appendix A, we present our conventions for spinors; in Appendix B, we propose an alternative on-shell derivation of the connection between Yukawa couplings and fermions masses; finally, in Appendix C, we present detailed computations of the running of the 4-particle amplitude involving one ALP, a fermion-antifermion pair and one Higgs doublet. This will be useful to show the consistency between the 3-point amplitude involving one ALP and two massive fermions and the 3-point amplitude involving one ALP and two massless gauge bosons.

2 ALP couplings to matter

2.1 General remarks

On-shell techniques have been previously used in the literature to study amplitudes involving massless scalar particles. More precisely, under the assumption that these amplitudes vanish as any of the momenta goes soft, *i.e.* $p \rightarrow 0$, it is possible to derive a number of features of such (pseudo-)scalars and in some cases even completely determine the underlying theory [14, 37–40, 47, 48]. However, these analyses are restricted to amplitudes with nothing but scalars, and therefore do not apply when they interact with other matter fields, for instance SM particles, making necessary the addition of extra conditions to characterise ALPs amplitudes. One of the goals of the present paper is then to extend this discussion and to characterise the interactions of ALPs with other particles from an on-shell perspective.

Our starting point are amplitudes involving ALPs, hereafter denoted by ϕ , in the limit in which the ALP momentum, p_{ϕ} , goes to zero. We will thus be focusing on

$$\lim_{p_{\phi} \to 0} \mathcal{A}[\phi, \mathcal{O}], \qquad (2.1)$$

where \mathcal{A} denotes the amplitude and \mathcal{O} is a set of other arbitrary particles.¹ We will start by considering amplitudes with the minimal number of particles coupled to one ALP (taken to be massless), *i.e.* 3-point amplitudes \mathcal{A}_3 in which one ALP interacts with two other particles. Our purpose is to use the soft limit to deduce which conditions such 3-point amplitudes must satisfy. We will discuss how to do this in a concrete way shortly. To avoid possible complications due to SM symmetry group, in this section "matter" means any massive particle of spin 0, 1/2 or 1 that can couple to the ALP. We will see in Section 3 that our results can be directly applied to amplitudes of massive SM particles (that would correspond to the broken electroweak phase), and we will also discuss how to extend them to the massless SM particles (above the electroweak scale).

In on-shell language, 3-point amplitudes are special objects, since they are completely fixed by little-group covariance and have constant coefficients. While massless 3-point amplitudes only make sense using complex momenta (the 3-body kinematics forces the amplitude to vanish for real momenta) [2, 5], no such obstruction arise for massive amplitudes and the momenta can be taken real. Also, 3-point amplitudes can be used as building blocks to form the so-called "constructible" higher-point amplitudes [26, 52, 53]. Contact interactions, that cannot be constructed in this way, will be discussed in Section 4. We will now focus on the coupling between one ALP and two

¹A more precise definition of the soft limit in terms of Lorentz invariant quantities is $|p_{\phi} \cdot p_i| \ll |p_i \cdot p_j|$, for any two momenta $p_i \neq p_j$ of the set \mathcal{O} .

massive particles of the same species (we will relax this condition in Section 2.5). The amplitudes we are interested in are written as

$$\mathcal{A}_3\left[\phi \,\mathcal{P}_1^{I_1,\cdots,I_{2s}}\bar{\mathcal{P}}_2^{J_1,\cdots,J_{2s}}\right],\tag{2.2}$$

where \mathcal{P} is a particle of spin s, $\overline{\mathcal{P}}$ its antiparticle, $\{I_1, \cdots, I_{2s}\}$, $\{J_1, \cdots, J_{2s}\}$ are symmetrized massive little-group indices and the subscripts denote the labels of the momenta (for more details on the notation and conventions, we refer the reader to Appendix A).

Going back to Eq. (2.1), it is important to notice that the soft limit effectively "freezes" the particle whose momentum is becoming soft, leaving us with an amplitude with one less dynamical particle. This means that, when we try to apply (2.1) to 3-point amplitudes as in Eq. (2.2), the soft limit would leave us with a non-physical 2-point amplitude. To circumvent this obstacle, we will consider the 3-point amplitude in Eq. (2.2) as part of a generic (n + 1)-point amplitude $\mathcal{A}_{n+1}[\phi, \mathcal{P}, \mathcal{O}]$, constructed "joining" together $\mathcal{A}_3[\phi \mathcal{P}\bar{\mathcal{P}}]$ in Eq. (2.2) with a *n*-point amplitude $\mathcal{A}_n[\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{O}]$ (see Fig. 1). The additional particles denoted collectively as \mathcal{O} are generic (apart from the fact that there must not be another ALP) and their nature will not play any role in our reasoning.² In the soft limit, the (n + 1)-point amplitude decomposes as

$$\lim_{p_{\phi} \to 0} \mathcal{A}_{n+1} \Big[\phi \, \mathcal{P}_{i,p}^{I_{1}, \cdots, I_{2s}}, \cdots \Big] = \\ \lim_{p_{\phi} \to 0} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathcal{A}_{n} \Big[\mathcal{P}_{i,p+p_{\phi}}^{K_{1}, \cdots, K_{2s}}, \cdots \Big] \, \frac{\epsilon_{K_{1}J_{1}} \cdots \epsilon_{K_{2s}J_{2s}}}{(p+p_{\phi})^{2} - m_{\mathcal{P}_{i}}^{2}} \mathcal{A}_{3} \Big[\phi \mathcal{P}_{i,p}^{I_{1}, \cdots, I_{2s}} \bar{\mathcal{P}}_{i,-p-p_{\phi}}^{J_{1}, \cdots, J_{2s}} \Big], \quad (2.3)$$

where we sum over all particles \mathcal{P} , which are labeled by i in \mathcal{A}_{n+1} and \mathcal{A}_n , and ϵ_{IJ} is the Levi–Civita tensor that takes into account the sum over spin configurations of the propagating particle (see Fig. 1). We can understand Eq. (2.3) as follows. Since the ALP couples to two particles of the same species, in the $p_{\phi} \to 0$ limit the momentum of the particle in the propagator is very close to $p^2 = m_{\mathcal{P}_i}^2$, *i.e.* the particle is very close to its mass shell. According to *polology* [6], ³ the total amplitude will then factorize into the product of the two sub-amplitudes multiplied by the intermediate propagator and hence we obtain Eq. (2.3). We can rewrite it more compactly as

 $^{^{2}}$ We will come back to the case with more ALPs in the end of this Section and in Section 4.

³As the name suggests, *polology* refers to the pole structure of amplitudes. More precisely, suppose we consider a *n*-point amplitude \mathcal{A}_n in which the external momenta $p_{1,...,r}$ and $p_{r+1,...,n}$ (for some r < n) are such that $s_{1,...,r} \equiv (p_1 + \cdots + p_r)^2 = m^2$, where *m* is the mass of some 1-particle state ψ that can be exchanged in an internal propagator. If this is the case, then *polology* guarantees that the amplitude has a pole at $s_{1,...,r} = m^2$ and that the residue factorizes into the product of the two



Figure 1. Diagramatic representation of Eq. (2.3). The index *i* labels the particle species. The momenta of external particles are taken to be incoming.

$$\lim_{p_{\phi}\to 0} \mathcal{A}_{n+1} \Big[\phi \, \mathcal{P}_{i,p}^{I_1,\cdots,I_{2s}}, \cdots \Big] = \lim_{p_{\phi}\to 0} \sum_{i=1}^n \mathcal{A}_n \Big[\mathcal{P}_{i,p}^{K_1,\cdots,K_{2s}}, \cdots \Big] \times (\mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{P}_i})_{K_1,\cdots,K_{2s}}^{I_1,\cdots,I_{2s}}, \qquad (2.4)$$

with the soft factor given by

$$(\mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{P}_{i}})_{K_{1},\cdots,K_{2s}}^{I_{1},\cdots,I_{2s}} = \frac{\epsilon_{K_{1}J_{1}}\cdots\epsilon_{K_{2s}J_{2s}}}{2p\cdot p_{\phi}}\mathcal{A}_{3}\left[\phi\mathcal{P}_{i,p}^{I_{1},\cdots,I_{2s}}\bar{\mathcal{P}}_{i,-p-p_{\phi}}^{J_{1},\cdots,J_{2s}}\right].$$
(2.5)

In the last step we have simplified the propagator using the fact that ϕ is massless, which gives $(p+p_{\phi})^2 - m_{\mathcal{P}_i}^2 = 2p \cdot p_{\phi}$. We stress once more that all the particles appearing in the soft factor are on-shell and that we consider real momenta. We observe that, under our hypothesis, the amplitude \mathcal{A}_{n+1} has the same kinematical configuration of \mathcal{A}_n without the ALP, *i.e.* the ingoing particle \mathcal{P}_i is on-shell in both cases. We are therefore led to the conclusion that the amplitude describing the interactions of an ALP with matter particles should obey the following soft factorization condition:

$$\lim_{s_{1,\ldots,r}\to m^{2}} \operatorname{Res}(\mathcal{A}_{n}) = \mathcal{A}_{r+1} \left(p_{1} \ldots p_{r} p_{\psi} \right) \mathcal{A}_{n-r+1} \left(p_{r+1} \ldots p_{n} (-p_{\psi}) \right)$$

subamplitudes connected by the propagator of the particle ψ :

where $-p_{\psi} = p_1 + \cdots + p_r = -p_{r+1} - \cdots - p_n$ is given by momentum conservation (we are taking all momenta incoming). This result is non-perturbative and relies only on the locality and unitarity of the S-matrix. Furthermore, it is the basis of the Britto–Cachazo–Feng–Witten (BCFW) recursion relations [52, 53].

ALP soft factorization condition

For a massless ALP, in the limit $p_{\phi} \to 0$, as the amplitude $\mathcal{A}_{n+1}[\phi, \mathcal{P}, \mathcal{O}]$ factorizes as

$$\mathcal{A}_{n+1}[\phi, \mathcal{P}, \mathcal{O}] \xrightarrow{p_{\phi} \to 0} \sum_{\mathcal{P}} \mathcal{A}_n[\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{O}] \times \mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{P}}, \qquad (2.6)$$

we demand that no poles appear in $S_{\mathcal{P}}$ in **all** phase space for real momenta. This condition holds when the 3-point amplitude \mathcal{A}_3 that appears in $S_{\mathcal{P}}$ represents the interaction of the ALP with two particles of the same species, such that \mathcal{A}_{n+1} has the same kinematical structure as \mathcal{A}_n without the ALP.

The motivation for the condition in Eq. (2.6) comes from the fact that we want the regularity of the soft-limit to be a general property of the amplitude, and not simply a characteristic of a particular point in the phase-space. Stated in another way: given the factorization in Eq. (2.4), the fact that particles \mathcal{P} and \mathcal{O} are the same in \mathcal{A}_n and \mathcal{A}_{n+1} guarantees that the condition of regularity will be valid for any kinematical configuration of \mathcal{P} , \mathcal{O} and will thus be independent of particular choices of momenta. Due to the singularities of the propagator in $\mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{P}}$, the ALP soft factorization condition is expected to give non-trivial requirements on \mathcal{A}_3 .⁴

To make progress we need to specify the particle content of the amplitude \mathcal{A}_3 . We will now analyze in turn the cases in which \mathcal{P} has spin 0, 1/2 and 1.

2.2 Scalars

In the simple case in which $\mathcal{P} = S$, with S a spin-0 particle, there are no little group indices associated with S and \mathcal{S}_S is simply given by

$$S_S = \frac{1}{2p \cdot p_{\phi}} \mathcal{A}_3 \left[\phi S_p \bar{S}_{-p-p_{\phi}} \right].$$
(2.7)

The 3-point amplitude among 3 scalars amounts just to a simple constant, therefore the only way to avoid S_S of diverging as $p_{\phi} \to 0$ is to set it to zero. This is nothing but a manifestation of the fact that in the usual quantum theoretical language the interactions of an ALP with two scalars, given by $(\partial_{\mu}\phi)(S^{\dagger}i\partial_{\mu}S)$, gives a vanishing amplitude when all particles are taken on-shell.

⁴We see that the factorization in Eq. (2.4) may in general affect the spin configuration of the remaining *n*-point amplitude when compared to the original (n+1)-point one. As we will see, however, the leading term in the soft expansion will always satisfy $(\mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{P}})^{I_1,\dots,I_{2s}}_{K_1,\dots,K_{2s}} \propto \delta^{I_1}_{K_1} \cdots \delta^{I_{2s}}_{K_{2s}} + \text{symm}$, *i.e.* the spin configuration will remain the same, with a change in spin configuration arising only in the subleading terms. Here, "symm" indicates the symmetric combinations of little-group indices.

2.3 Fermions

Moving to the case of fermions $\mathcal{P} = \psi$, we now have a non-trivial little-group scaling and the 3-point amplitude can be written as

$$\mathcal{A}_3\left[\phi\psi_1^I\bar{\psi}_2^J\right] = g_L \left<\mathbf{12}\right> + g_R \left[\mathbf{12}\right], \qquad (2.8)$$

with two a priori complex dimensionless constants, $g_{L,R}$, that are related to the couplings to the left- and right-handed components of the fermions, respectively. We consider for concreteness the case of Dirac fermions, but the same discussion holds for Majorana fermions. In the previous amplitude we have used the *bold* notation introduced in Ref. [3], which amounts to simply bold the particle momenta instead of writing explicitly the little group indices. More specifically, in this case the bolded spinor products are matrices in the $\{I, J\}$ space (see Appendix A). Also, we use the short-hand notation $|\mathbf{n}\rangle \equiv |\mathbf{p}_n\rangle$, and similar for other spinors, to label the momenta. Calling $p_1 = p$, $p_2 = -p - p_{\phi}$ and using Eqs. (A.13) and (A.18), the soft factor S_{ψ} becomes

$$(\mathcal{S}_{\psi})_{K}^{I} = \frac{m_{\psi}}{2p \cdot p_{\phi}} (g_{L} + g_{R}) \delta_{K}^{I} + (\mathcal{S}_{p_{\phi}^{0}})_{K}^{I}, \qquad (2.9)$$

where $S_{p_{\phi}^{0}}$ denotes terms that are sub-leading on p_{ϕ} and we will always assume masses to be real and positive. As we are going to see, both of these terms will play an important role in determining the form of g_{L} and g_{R} . First, to avoid the divergence of S_{ψ} in the soft limit we need $g_{L} = -g_{R}$,⁵ which implies that the coupling of the ALP to the fermions must necessarily be axial. This condition is nevertheless not enough to guarantee the regularity for all p, as a divergence may still appear when the (real) 3momenta \vec{p} and \vec{p}_{ϕ} are collinear with $\vec{p} \cdot \vec{p}_{\phi} > 0$. In this case, the denominator appearing in Eq. (2.9), that is contained in the definition of $S_{p_{\phi}^{0}}$, becomes

$$\frac{1}{2p \cdot p_{\phi}} = \frac{1}{2|\vec{p}_{\phi}| \left(\sqrt{m_{\psi}^2 + |\vec{p}\,|^2} - |\vec{p}\,|\right)} \xrightarrow{\frac{m_{\psi}}{|\vec{p}|} \ll 1} \frac{|\vec{p}\,|}{|\vec{p}_{\phi}|m_{\psi}^2},\tag{2.10}$$

i.e. it diverges for very small masses. We anticipate here that the massless limit $m_{\psi} \to 0$ is precisely the limit that will allow us in Section 3 to match the massive SM amplitudes in the IR into the corresponding massless amplitudes invariant under the SM symmetry group in the UV. To avoid divergencies when $m_{\psi}/|\vec{p}| \ll 1$, we must then require the soft factor S_{ψ} to be regular also in the collinear configuration. Since, with

⁵Since, under parity, angle and square brackets are exchanged, the condition $g_L = -g_R$ amounts to a parity-odd amplitude, *i.e.* to a pseudoscalar ALP. We thank Yael Shadmi for pointing this out.

the condition $g_{\psi} = g_L = -g_R$, the first term in Eq. (2.9) vanishes, we turn to $S_{p_{\phi}^0}$. In the collinear limit, this term is proportional to (see Eq. (A.20))

$$\lim_{\text{collinear}} (\mathcal{S}_{p_{\phi}^0})_K^I = -\frac{g_{\psi} \epsilon_{KJ}}{2m_{\psi}} \left(\delta_2^I \delta_1^J + \delta_2^J \delta_1^I \right), \qquad (2.11)$$

where the structure carrying the little group indices is diagonal and traceless because of the contraction with the ϵ_{KJ} tensor, $-\epsilon_{KJ} \left(\delta_2^I \delta_1^J + \delta_2^J \delta_1^I \right) = (\sigma^3)_K^I$. The only way to guarantee a non-singular massless limit is to have the couplings to be proportional to the mass, since then Eq. (2.9) becomes independent of m_{ψ} in this limit. As a consequence, remembering that the couplings $g_{L,R}$ are dimensionless, we are forced to introduce a new scale f in order to correct their dimensionality. From the arguments above, we then find that $g_R = -g_L \propto m_{\psi}/f$.

We can yet obtain more information about the phase of the couplings by imposing CPT invariance and unitarity of the amplitude. The relation of the amplitude with their CPT conjugate is given by Eq. (A.23), and implies in the present case that $g_L = g_R^*$. This, together with the previous conditions, leads to purely imaginary coefficients. In short, we conclude that the coefficients in Eq. (2.8) must be of the form

$$g_L = -g_R = C_{\phi\psi\psi} \frac{im_{\psi}}{f}, \quad C_{\phi\psi\psi} \in \mathbb{R}.$$
 (2.12)

The non-trivial generalisation to several fermion species will be presented in Eq. (2.22). With Eq. (2.12), the final expression for the amplitude then reads

$$\mathcal{A}_{3}\left[\phi\psi_{1}^{I}\bar{\psi}_{2}^{J}\right] = C_{\phi\psi\psi}\frac{im_{\psi}}{f}\left(\left\langle\mathbf{12}\right\rangle - \left[\mathbf{12}\right]\right). \tag{2.13}$$

This result agrees exactly with what we have from the usual quantum theoretical approach starting from an interaction given by $(C_{\phi\psi\psi}/2f)(\partial_{\mu}\phi)\bar{\psi}\gamma^5\gamma^{\mu}\psi$. We do not have any coupling with the vector current, because it is not physical due to vector current conservation on-shell. It is worth stressing that, while little-group arguments were predicting the structure of the 3-point amplitude in term of two complex constants, the ALP soft factorization condition (2.6) reduces this freedom to a single real parameter.

2.4 Vectors

We now move to the case $\mathcal{P} = V$, with V a spin 1 particle of mass m_V . Without any loss of generality we take $\bar{V} = V$. The 3-point amplitude reads

$$\mathcal{A}_{3}\left[\phi V_{1}^{I_{1},I_{2}}V_{2}^{J_{1},J_{2}}\right] = \frac{g_{-}}{f}\left<\mathbf{12}\right>^{2} + \frac{g_{+}}{f}\left[\mathbf{12}\right]^{2} + \frac{g_{0}}{m_{V}}\left<\mathbf{12}\right>\left[\mathbf{12}\right],$$
(2.14)

where g_{\pm}, g_0 are three dimensionless complex constants and f is again a new scale needed to correct the dimension of the coefficients. We observe that, unlike g_{\pm} , the coupling g_0 is instead divided by a factor m_V^{-1} to ensure a well-defined high-energy limit [24, 28]. Similar to Eq. (2.8), we use the bold notation to leave the little-group indices implicit. It is worth stressing again that we need to symmetrize over the littlegroup indices, so for instance ⁶

$$\langle \mathbf{12} \rangle^2 = \frac{1}{2} \left(\left\langle 1^{I_1} 2^{J_1} \right\rangle \left\langle 1^{I_2} 2^{J_2} \right\rangle + \left\langle 1^{I_2} 2^{J_1} \right\rangle \left\langle 1^{I_1} 2^{J_2} \right\rangle \right),$$
 (2.15)

and analogous expressions for the other spinor structures. With this amplitude we compute the soft factor:

$$(\mathcal{S}_V)_{K_1,K_2}^{I_1,I_2} = \frac{m_V^2}{2p \cdot p_\phi} \left(\frac{g_- + g_+}{f} + \frac{g_0}{m_V}\right) \frac{1}{2} \left(\delta_{K_1}^{I_1} \delta_{K_2}^{I_2} + \delta_{K_1}^{I_2} \delta_{K_2}^{I_1}\right) + (\mathcal{S}_{p_\phi^0})_{K_1,K_2}^{I_1,I_2}, \quad (2.16)$$

where again $S_{p_{\phi}^0}$ are terms that are subleading in p_{ϕ} . As in the case of the fermions, regularity when $|\vec{p}_{\phi}| \to 0$ imposes that the term in brackets of the first term vanishes. Regularity in the collinear limit (when $m_V \to 0$) requires $S_{p_{\phi}^0}$ to be regular, and we can easily show that this requires $g_0 = 0$ (recall Eq. (2.10)). Together with *CPT* and unitarity, the constraints on the couplings we obtain are

$$g_{-} = -g_{+} = iC_{\phi VV}, \quad C_{\phi VV} \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(2.17)

Similarly to the case of fermions, the equation above implies that the couplings of the ALP to two vectors are purely imaginary and axial. With the results above, the amplitude in Eq. (2.14) becomes

$$\mathcal{A}_{3}\left[\phi V_{1}^{I_{1},I_{2}}V_{2}^{J_{1},J_{2}}\right] = \frac{iC_{\phi VV}}{f}\left(\left<\mathbf{12}\right>^{2} - \left[\mathbf{12}\right]^{2}\right).$$
(2.18)

It is possible to show that the amplitude with such couplings corresponds exactly to the operator $(C_{\phi VV}/2f)\phi V_{\mu\nu}\tilde{V}^{\mu\nu}$, where $\tilde{V}_{\mu\nu} \equiv \frac{1}{2}\epsilon_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}V^{\alpha\beta}$ (see Appendix A). Once again, we see that the ALP soft factorization condition (2.6) reduces the number of free parameters from three complex to one real coupling.

2.5 Fermions - Many species case

So far we have analysed the couplings of the ALP assuming that only one species of particle \mathcal{P} couples to ϕ . For the discussion in Section 3, it will also be necessary to

⁶Here we choose the normalization of 1/2 for all values of $I_{1,2}, J_{1,2}$ for simplicity, but other conventions can be useful in other contexts, for example in Refs. [18, 24].

consider the case in which the ALP couples to at least two non-degenerate fermion species. What we would like to do is to generalize what has been done in Section 2, constructing a (n+1)-amplitude $\mathcal{A}_{n+1}[\phi, \mathcal{P}, \mathcal{O}]$ joining together the 3-point amplitude $\mathcal{A}_3[\phi \mathcal{P} \mathcal{Q}]$ (with \mathcal{P} and \mathcal{Q} two particles of different species) and the *n*-point amplitude $\mathcal{A}_n[\mathcal{Q},\mathcal{O}]$, where once more \mathcal{O} denotes a set of arbitrary particles. We face, however, an immediate problem: when the soft limit is taken in this case, the particle \mathcal{Q} in the propagator will not be close to its mass shell, since by assumption its mass is different from the one of particle \mathcal{P} , and the factorization of Eq. (2.3) fails. Stated in other terms: given that $\mathcal{A}_{n+1}[\phi, \mathcal{P}, \mathcal{O}]$ and $\mathcal{A}_n[\mathcal{Q}, \mathcal{O}]$ contain, respectively, particle \mathcal{P} and \mathcal{Q} that are different, the two amplitudes cannot have the same kinematical configuration. This implies that the ALP soft factorization condition cannot hold in this case. To avoid this, we can work first in the high-energy limit, where all fermions are massless and Eq. (2.6) holds again. On the one hand, at leading order in p_{ϕ} , the soft factor in Eq. (2.5) vanishes automatically as $\langle pp \rangle = [pp] = 0$ and regularity is trivially satisfied. On the other hand, the subleading terms that are constant in p_{ϕ} do not vanish and can be constrained in the collinear configuration. Considering that the angle between the 3-momenta is $\theta \ll 1$, we obtain for each helicity configuration (see Eq. (A.21))

$$\lim_{\theta \ll 1} S_{\psi} \propto \frac{1}{\theta}.$$
 (2.19)

Thus, using the regularity condition in the collinear limit, we arrive at the conclusion that the coefficients of the amplitude should vanish in the massless limit, *i.e.* they should be proportional to the mass of the fermions involved in the amplitude. The couplings, that are now matrices in the space of fermion species, can always be put into the form

$$g_{L,R} = \frac{i}{f} \left[M_{\psi} B_{L,R} - A_{L,R} M_{\psi} \right], \qquad (2.20)$$

where M_{ψ} is the fermion mass matrix and $A_{L,R}$, $B_{L,R}$ are arbitrary matrices, that can depend in a regular way on M_{ψ} as well. If there is any massless fermion in the spectrum, or if some different species are degenerate in mass, we must treat them separately as the form of the amplitude is different, meaning that we can always take M_{ψ} to be diagonal with positive non-degenerate entries. Since the parametrization above is redundant under the transformation $A_{L,R} \to A_{L,R} + M_{\psi}X_{L,R}$, $B_{L,R} \to B_{L,R} + X_{L,R}M_{\psi}$, with $X_{L,R}$ some matrix, we can always choose $A_{L,R}$ to be hermitian by choosing $X_{L,R} = M_{\psi}^{-1}A_{L,R}^{\dagger}$. Imposing CPT and unitarity, which based on Eq. (A.23) amounts to $g_L = g_R^{\dagger}$, we obtain that

$$g_L = \frac{i}{f} \left[M_{\psi} A_R - B_R^{\dagger} M_{\psi} \right], \quad g_R = \frac{i}{f} \left[M_{\psi} B_R - A_R M_{\psi} \right], \quad (2.21)$$

i.e. the couplings $g_{L,R}$ depend on the hermitian matrix A_R and on the complex matrix B_R . The matrix elements of B_R can be simplified as follows. First of all, we observe that the real part of $(B_R)_{ii}$ can always be absorbed in $(A_R)_{ii}$, since the fact that M_{ψ} is diagonal implies that $(B_R)_{ii}$ and $(A_R)_{ii}$ are not uniquely defined. Furthermore, since the diagonal couplings $(g_{L,R})_{ii}$ appear in the coupling between the ALP and two fermions of the same species, they must satisfy the soft factorization condition of Eq. (2.3). As shown in Section 2.3, this forces their imaginary part to vanish. We thus conclude that the matrix B_R can always be taken with vanishing diagonal elements. We still have enough freedom to significantly simplify the expression for $(B_R)_{ij}$, $i \neq j$. Indeed, applying the transformation $A_R \to A_R + M_{\psi}Y, B_R \to B_R + YM_{\psi}$, with Y satisfying $M_{\psi}Y = Y^{\dagger}M_{\psi}$, the expressions for $g_{L,R}$ do not change and A_R remains an hermitian matrix.⁷ In order to satisfy $M_{\psi}Y = Y^{\dagger}M_{\psi}$, the matrix elements of Y must be of the form $Y_{ji} = M_i Y_{ij}^* / M_j$. The off-diagonal matrix elements Y_{ij} $(i \neq j)$ can then be chosen to impose the condition $(B_R)_{ji} = (B_R)_{ij}^*$ (it is sufficient to pick $\operatorname{Re}(Y_{ij}) =$ $M_j(\operatorname{Re}(B_{R,ji}) - \operatorname{Re}(B_{R,ij})) / (M_j^2 - M_i^2)$ and $\operatorname{Im}(Y_{ij}) = M_j(\operatorname{Im}(B_{R,ji}) + \operatorname{Im}(B_{R,ij})) / (M_i^2 - M_i^2)$ M_i^2), which is always allowed since the masses M_i are assumed to be non-vanishing and non-degenerate), in such a way that the matrix B_R can always be chosen to satisfy $B_R = B_R^{\dagger}$ with vanishing diagonal elements. The couplings appearing in the amplitude are thus

$$g_L = \frac{i}{f} \left[M_{\psi} A_R - B_R M_{\psi} \right], \quad g_R = \frac{i}{f} \left[M_{\psi} B_R - A_R M_{\psi} \right], \quad (2.22)$$

with both A_R , B_R hermitian. This expression agrees with what one would expect from a shift-symmetric coupling of one ALP to fermions [51, 54–56], and precisely corresponds to the operator $(1/f)(\partial_{\mu}\phi)\bar{\psi}[C_V + C_A\gamma^5]\gamma^{\mu}\psi$, with $A_R = C_V + C_A$ and $B_R = C_V - C_A$. We observe that the diagonal elements of C_V are not physical due to vector current conservation and can thus be redefined to obtain $(B_R)_{ii} = 0$, in agreement with what has been found above. In this case, that corresponds to the 1-family case, the dependency on $(C_V)_{ii}$ thus drops out and it follows from Eq. (2.22) that $g_L = -g_R$, in agreement with Eq. (2.12).

We emphasise that the requirement of regularity of the soft factor $S_{\mathcal{P}}$, combined with a well behaved massless limit of the low-energy (massive) amplitudes and CPTinvariance plus unitarity, allowed us to fully determine the structure of the 3-point amplitudes up to some constants. In addition, they all agree with the amplitudes one would obtain by imposing shift-symmetry at the level of Lagrangian.

⁷We thank Quentin Bonnefoy for a clarifying discussion about this point.

2.6 Multiple soft limit

We close this section by commenting on the case that Eq. (2.3) contains more than one ALP, that is, when multiple ALPs are being taken soft. In this situation, we can make recursive use of *polology* to obtain an expression similar to Eq. (2.4), with, however, a different soft factor:

$$\lim_{p_{\phi_1},\cdots,p_{\phi_m}\to 0} \mathcal{A}_{n+m} \Big[\phi_1 \cdots \phi_m \, \mathcal{P}_{i,p}^{I_1,\cdots,I_{2s}}, \cdots \Big] = \lim_{p_{\phi_1},\cdots,p_{\phi_m}\to 0} \sum_{i=1}^n \mathcal{A}_n \Big[\mathcal{P}_i^{K_1,\cdots,K_{2s}}, \cdots \Big] \times \Big(\mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{P}_i}^{(m)} \Big)_{K_1,\cdots,K_{2s}}^{I_1,\cdots,I_{2s}}, \quad (2.23)$$

where we have defined the *m*-th soft factor, $\mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{P}}^{(m)}$, associated to the soft emission of m ALPs. Then, a natural extension of the ALP soft factorization condition (2.6) is to impose that $\mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{D}}^{(m)}$ is regular for all $m \geq 1$. For m = 1, we have explicitly computed the soft factor in Eq. (2.5), that depended only on the 3-point amplitude $\mathcal{A}_3[\phi \mathcal{P}\bar{\mathcal{P}}]$, and showed how this latter is constrained by the ALP soft factorization condition (2.6). For m > 1, instead, the soft factor depends not only on the 3-point amplitude, but also on higher-point amplitudes involving more ALPs, $\mathcal{A}_4[\phi^2 \mathcal{P}\bar{\mathcal{P}}], \cdots, \mathcal{A}_{m+2}[\phi^m \mathcal{P}\bar{\mathcal{P}}]$, since these are in general non-vanishing. To make the discussion more concrete, let us focus on the double soft limit, m = 2 (see Fig. 2). The soft factor in this case, $\mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{P}}^{(2)}$, contains a piece that depends on two insertions of the 3-point amplitude (2.2), and a second piece that depends on $\mathcal{A}_4[\phi^2 \mathcal{P} \bar{\mathcal{P}}]$. Since the 3-point amplitude is fixed by the ALP soft factorization condition (2.6), we would expect that imposing the regularity of the double soft limit would allows us to constraint the 4-point amplitude, $\mathcal{A}_4[\phi^2 \mathcal{P}\bar{\mathcal{P}}]$. Already at this level, however, things are not so simple. Doing the explicit computation, we find that $\mathcal{S}^{(2)}_{\mathcal{D}}$ has a term that can be canceled by a suitable choice of the coefficients appearing in $\mathcal{A}_4[\phi^2 \mathcal{P}\bar{\mathcal{P}}]$, but other divergent terms remain whose spinor helicity structures are not obviously connected to any tree level amplitude. We suspect that the solution to this problem lies in loop corrections, as it happens in the discussion of multiple soft limits of photons [44]. In that case, radiative corrections are instrumental in guaranteeing that the overall amplitude is finite and the same may happen in our case. Given the complexity of general loop computation in the on-shell context, we defer the detailed analysis of this class of amplitudes to future work.

3 ALP interactions with the SM particles

Having constructed the 3-point amplitudes that describe the ALP interactions to matter, we now discuss how to extend our results to the case of the SM. There are two



Figure 2. Schematic diagrammatic representation of Eq. (2.23) for an amplitude with two ALPs (m = 2). The first line represents the insertion of two 3-point amplitudes, the second one is the Bose exchange of the two ALPs in the double \mathcal{A}_3 insertion, while the last line represents the insertion of the 4-point amplitude with two ALPs whose coefficients need to be determined. The dots denote other factorization channels that are automatically regular in the double soft limit.

different regimes for the SM amplitudes. One is when (some of) the particles are massive and the amplitudes are invariant under the symmetry group $SU(3)_c \times U(1)_{\rm EM}$, corresponding in the usual QFT language to the broken phase of electroweak symmetry. These amplitudes are the relevant ones at low-energies, that is, when the typical energy scale is much smaller than the scale of electroweak symmetry v (to be defined below). For massive amplitudes in this low-energy regime, apart for some overall group theoretical factors, the results of Section 2 can be directly applied. For energies above the scale v, *i.e.* at high-energies, we take the particle content to be massless and amplitudes to be invariant under $\mathcal{G}_{SM} = SU(3)_c \times SU(2)_L \times U(1)_Y$, thus corresponding to the unbroken electroweak phase. Explicit expressions for these amplitudes involving also the ALP will be given below. The link between low- and high-energy amplitudes will allow us to find additional properties of the coefficients $C_{\phi\psi\psi}$, $C_{\phi VV}$ and $g_{L,R}$ introduced in the previous section, once the connection with the coefficients of the high-energy amplitude is made explicit. In practice, we will take the massless limit of the massive amplitudes (as defined in Appendix A) and equate them to the corresponding \mathcal{G}_{SM} invariant massless amplitudes, under the assumption that the $m \to 0$ limit is smooth and continuous.

The remainder of this section will be devoted to the study of the high-energy limit

applied to the amplitudes involving one ALP and different particles. The case of the coupling between one ALP and two Higgs doublets is identical to the one already discussed in Eq. (2.7), so we can skip directly to the coupling between the ALP and particles of higher spin. For spin 1 particles (analyzed in Section 3.1) the high-energy limit of Eq. (2.17) will be straightforward and will allow us to relate the coefficients appearing in the amplitudes involving ϕWW , ϕZZ , $\phi \gamma \gamma$ and $\phi \gamma Z$ to the coefficients appearing in the amplitudes involving ϕBB and $\phi W^a W^a$ (with a the $SU(2)_L$ adjoint index). The case of the amplitude $\phi G^A G^A$ (where G is a gluon and A is the index of the $SU(3)_c$ adjoint) will be more difficult, since this amplitude cannot be linked to any of the massive amplitudes derived in Section 2. In this case, we will need to resort to a one-loop computation to recover the same structure of the amplitude that emerges for the other spin 1 bosons. The case of spin 1/2 particles (discussed in Section 3.2) will be even trickier, since \mathcal{G}_{SM} -invariance will force us to connect low-energy 3-point amplitudes to high-energy 4-point amplitudes involving one additional Higgs doublet. As we are going to see, in this case electroweak symmetry breaking (as discussed in Ref. [22]) will be essential to meaningfully connect low- and high-energy coefficients and will force us to introduce a "ALP-Higgs obstruction" condition to complement the ALP soft factorization condition of Eq. (2.6). In this section we will still be concerned with amplitudes that involve only one ALP that are suppressed by f^{-1} . We will discuss in Section 4 how to compute amplitudes suppressed by more powers of f and we will comment on the limitations of our approach.

3.1 ϕVV amplitudes

The massless 3-point amplitude involving one ALP and two spin-1 particles can be built using little group covariance and \mathcal{G}_{SM} -invariance. The result is

$$\mathcal{A}_{3} \left[\phi B_{1}^{-} B_{2}^{-} \right] = \frac{g_{B}^{-}}{f} \left\langle 12 \right\rangle^{2}, \ \mathcal{A}_{3} \left[\phi B_{1}^{+} B_{2}^{+} \right] = \frac{g_{B}^{+}}{f} \left[12 \right]^{2}, \mathcal{A}_{3} \left[\phi W_{1}^{-} W_{2}^{-} \right] = \frac{g_{W}^{-}}{f} \left\langle 12 \right\rangle^{2}, \ \mathcal{A}_{3} \left[\phi W_{1}^{+} W_{2}^{+} \right] = \frac{g_{W}^{+}}{f} \left[12 \right]^{2},$$

$$(3.1)$$

where, for simplicity, we have ignored \mathcal{G}_{SM} indices. The \pm superscripts show explicitly the helicities of the spin 1 particles.⁸ We recall that massless 3-point amplitudes are non-vanishing only when considering complex momenta. A priori, little group covariance allows the a priori complex coefficients $g_{B,W}^{\pm}$ to be arbitrary and unrelated one with the other. As in Section 2, we now want to find whether any correlation exists

 $^{^{8}}$ We do not consider amplitudes with one positive and one negative helicity states, as these amplitudes have a more intricate analytical structure and do not necessarily vanish as the momenta are taken real [57–59].

between these coefficients and how to connect such coefficients with those appearing in the amplitudes involving physical states. Let us start with the 3-point amplitudes involving one ALP and the massive spin-1 particles, $\mathcal{A}_3[\phi W_1^{(+)}W_2^{(-)}]$ (where the superscripts now denote the electric charge of the massive W bosons, not to be confused with the helicities that appear in Eq. (3.1) for the massless W bosons in the unbroken phase) and $\mathcal{A}_3[\phi Z_1 Z_2]$. As we saw in Section 2, in this case the ALP soft factorization condition (2.6) holds and the amplitudes are those of Eq. (2.17), with real coefficients $C_{\phi WW}$ and $C_{\phi ZZ}$. Taking the high energy limit of these massive amplitudes and using spontaneous symmetry breaking as implemented in the on-shell context [60, 61], we obtain the following correspondence between $C_{\phi WW,\phi ZZ}$ and $g_{B,W}^{\pm}$:⁹

$$g_{B,W}^{\mp} = -g_{B,W}^{\pm}, \quad iC_{\phi ZZ} = \sin^2(\theta_W)g_B^{-} + \cos^2(\theta_W)g_W^{-}, \quad iC_{\phi WW} = g_W^{-}, \quad (3.2)$$

where θ_W is the weak angle. We thus see that, although little group covariance does not correlate $g_{B,W}^{\pm}$ one with the other, using the high energy limit and electroweak symmetry breaking we are not only able to (anti) correlate $g_{B,W}^{\pm}$ with $g_{B,W}^{-}$, but we are also able to express the coefficients that appear in the massive amplitudes, $C_{\phi ZZ}$ and $C_{\phi WW}$, with the high energy coefficients $g_{B,W}^{\pm}$. The remaining amplitudes involving the physical spin-1 states (other than the gluons, to which we will come back later in this section) are $\mathcal{A}_3[\phi \gamma_1^{\pm} \gamma_2^{\pm}]$ and $\mathcal{A}_3[\phi Z_1 \gamma_2^{\pm}]$, where γ^{\pm} denotes a photon with helicity ± 1 . The form of these amplitudes is completely fixed by little group covariance to be

$$\mathcal{A}_{3}\left[\phi\gamma_{1}^{-}\gamma_{2}^{-}\right] = \frac{g_{\gamma\gamma}^{-}}{f} \left\langle 12\right\rangle^{2}, \ \mathcal{A}_{3}\left[\phi\gamma_{1}^{+}\gamma_{2}^{+}\right] = \frac{g_{\gamma\gamma}^{+}}{f} \left[12\right]^{2}, \mathcal{A}_{3}\left[\phi Z_{1}\gamma_{2}^{-}\right] = \frac{g_{Z\gamma}^{-}}{f} \left\langle 12\right\rangle^{2}, \ \mathcal{A}_{3}\left[\phi Z_{1}\gamma_{2}^{+}\right] = \frac{g_{Z\gamma}^{+}}{f} \left[12\right]^{2}.$$

$$(3.3)$$

Once more, the coefficients appearing are, a priori, unrelated one with the other. We can, however, use once more electroweak symmetry breaking as implemented in Ref. [60] to obtain

$$iC_{\phi\gamma\gamma} = g_{\gamma\gamma}^{-} = -g_{\gamma\gamma}^{+}, \quad iC_{\phi Z\gamma} = g_{Z\gamma}^{-} = -g_{Z\gamma}^{+}, \quad (3.4)$$

where

$$iC_{\phi\gamma\gamma} = \sin^2(\theta_W)g_W^- + \cos^2(\theta_W)g_B^-, \quad iC_{\phi Z\gamma} = 2\cos(\theta_W)\sin(\theta_W)\left[g_W^- - g_B^-\right]. \tag{3.5}$$

⁹As discussed in Appendix A, in the cases considered in this paper, when taking the high energy limit of the massive spinor helicity structure $\langle 12 \rangle^2$ we simply obtain the massless structure $\langle 12 \rangle^2$, which selects negative helicity for the spin-1 particles involved. In an analogous way, the massive structure $[12]^2$ corresponds to the massless $[12]^2$ and positive helicity vectors. From this correspondence, the result in Eq. (3.2) immediately follows.

We thus obtain the non-trivial result that all the coefficients that appear in the 3-point amplitudes between physical states are correlated one with the other through their dependence on the high-energy coefficients g_B^{\pm} and g_W^{\pm} . In terms of degrees of freedom, we have started from four a priori complex parameters $(g_{W,B}^{\pm})$ and reduced them to only 2 real ones.

Gluons, on the other hand, cannot be related to other gauge bosons via symmetry breaking, nor are they massive at low energy. At all energies at which perturbation theory is valid, the coupling between the ALP and gluons will be

$$\mathcal{A}_{3}\left[\phi G_{1}^{-}G_{2}^{-}\right] = \frac{g_{G}^{-}}{f} \left\langle 12 \right\rangle^{2}, \ \mathcal{A}_{3}\left[\phi G_{1}^{+}G_{2}^{+}\right] = \frac{g_{G}^{+}}{f} \left[12\right]^{2}, \tag{3.6}$$

as usual omitting $\mathcal{G}_{\rm SM}$ structures. Following our discussion above, we would expect the coefficients g_G^- and g_G^+ to be related by $g_G^- = -g_G^+$ as in the case of the photons, but in this case we cannot relate the amplitudes under consideration with massive amplitudes (gluons are never massive) nor we can use electroweak symmetry breaking as we did for photon (color symmetry is never broken). The way we found to extract some information out of these amplitudes is to go to the 1-loop level and see the interplay between $\mathcal{A}_3[\phi G^{\pm}G^{\pm}]$ and 3-point amplitudes involving fermions. More precisely, we compute the anomalous dimension of the coefficient C_{ψ} appearing in the amplitude between ϕ and two fermions ψ (the coupling will be defined in Eq. (3.9)) induced by Eq. (3.6). The coefficient C_{ψ} cannot be arbitrary, but in order to satisfy the ALP soft factorization condition (or, more precisely, to satisfy the "ALP-Higgs obstruction condition" that we will introduce in Section 3.2 and that will be added to the ALP soft factorization condition), it will have to satisfy a specific constraint, shown in Eq. (3.12). Our 1-loop computation (shown in Appendix C) shows that C_{ψ} can satisfy Eq. (3.12) only if

$$g_{G}^{-} = -g_{G}^{+} = iC_{\phi GG},$$
 (3.7)

with $C_{\phi GG}$ real. We thus conclude that the coefficients appearing in the amplitudes with gluons do indeed satisfy the same relation we found in the case of photons. It is worth stressing, however, that the reasoning above makes the amplitudes in Eq. (3.6) qualitatively different from the others, as we were only able to arrive at the constraints above by using other amplitudes.

Summarizing, the amplitudes in Eqs. (3.1) and (3.6) are constrained to be of the form

$$\mathcal{A}_{3}[\phi V_{1}^{-}V_{2}^{-}] = \frac{iC_{\phi VV}}{f} \langle 12 \rangle^{2}, \quad \mathcal{A}_{3}[\phi V_{1}^{+}V_{2}^{+}] = -\frac{iC_{\phi VV}}{f} [12]^{2}, \quad (3.8)$$

with V = B, W or G, and $C_{\phi VV}$ real. For the phenomenology of ALPs, the most important couplings are the one with photons and gluons, which we define at the

Lagrangian level by $\mathscr{L} = \frac{C_{\phi\gamma\gamma}}{2f} \phi F_{\mu\nu} \tilde{F}^{\mu\nu} + \frac{C_{\phi GG}}{2f} \phi G^A_{\mu\nu} \tilde{G}^{A\mu\nu}$, with the couplings $C_{\phi\gamma\gamma}$ and $C_{\phi GG}$ given in terms of the high-energy couplings by Eqs. (3.5) and (3.7).

3.2 Fermions and EWSB

The case of fermions is more subtle and, as we already mentioned at the beginning of this section, to properly address it we will need to add a condition to Eq. (2.6). The problem stems from the fact that, unlike what happens in Eq. (2.8), we cannot build an amplitude with one ALP and two fermions due to \mathcal{G}_{SM} -invariance and fermion helicities. Nevertheless, it is possible to add a Higgs doublet and write

$$\mathcal{A}_4\left[\phi\psi_{L1}^-\bar{\psi}_{R2}^-\bar{H}\right] = \frac{\bar{C}_\psi}{f} \left\langle 12 \right\rangle, \quad \mathcal{A}_4\left[\phi\bar{\psi}_{L1}^+\psi_{R2}^+H\right] = \frac{C_\psi}{f} \left[12\right], \quad (3.9)$$

where $\psi_{L,R}$ denote the chiral fermions of the SM, while H is the Higgs doublet and \overline{H} denotes the anti-Higgs (in the case of couplings to up-quarks one should swap $H \leftrightarrow \overline{H}$). For simplicity, we again suppress all indices and tensor structures related to \mathcal{G}_{SM} . Also, it is important to notice that the dimensionless couplings C_{ψ} , \overline{C}_{ψ} are matrices in fermion flavor space and the spinor structures $\langle 12 \rangle$ and [12] are flavor-independent since all fermions are massless. This also implies that we have the freedom to redefine C_{ψ} and \overline{C}_{ψ} , because in the massless limit they can be seen as tensors of the flavor group $U(3)_{\psi_L} \times U(3)_{\psi_R}$ [36]. At tree-level, CPT and unitarity enforces that $\overline{C}_{\psi} = C_{\psi}^{\dagger}$, that follows from Eq. (A.23).

The fact that the amplitude in Eq. (3.9) is now a 4-point amplitude brings two changes to the analysis. First, the coefficients C_{ψ} can now depend on the kinematics through kinematical invariants, which we will always assume to be regular, *i.e.* given by a power expansion. Second, the reasoning that led us to the ALP soft factorization condition (2.6) fails, because taking $p_{\phi} \rightarrow 0$ does not guarantee that the particle exchanged in the propagator goes on-shell and that the amplitude factorizes. The key to understand the soft limit for these amplitudes lies in the Brout–Englert–Higgs mechanism. In general, to connect the massless (high-energy) amplitudes with the massive (low-energy) amplitudes without the Higgs, one uses

$$\lim_{p_H \to 0} \mathcal{A}[H, \cdots] = \lim_{\text{H.E.}} \frac{1}{v} \mathcal{A}[\cdots], \qquad (3.10)$$

where H.E. stands for the high-energy limit of the amplitude (see Appendix A) and v is the scale at which the Higgs becomes non-dynamical ("frozen" in the language of Ref. [22]), which is introduced by dimensional analysis and represents the scale associated with electroweak symmetry. The limit $p_H \rightarrow 0$ is to be understood also as the limit in which the Higgs becomes non-dynamical, which amounts to removing it from

the amplitude, and the right hand side is to be taken as the high-energy (massless) limit of the corresponding massive amplitude. What is stated in Eq. (3.10) is nothing but the UV/IR compatibility for amplitudes involving the Higgs.

In short, we learn from the discussion above that the ALP soft factorization condition (2.6) is not directly applicable to amplitudes involving Higgs. Therefore, we are led to impose an extra condition for such amplitudes:

ALP-Higgs obstruction If a low-energy 3-point amplitude \mathcal{A}_3 involving one massless ALP cannot be associated to a non-vanishing gauge invariant 3-point amplitude in the UV, but only to a 4-point one with an extra Higgs, then we impose the following condition:

$$\lim_{p_{\phi}, p_{H} \to 0} \mathcal{A}_{4}[\phi H \cdots] = \lim_{p_{\phi} \to 0} \lim_{\text{H.E.}} \frac{1}{v} \mathcal{A}_{3}[\phi \cdots].$$
(3.11)

The prescription above guarantees that the result we obtained previously in Eq. (2.22) holds, as the double soft-limit $p_{\phi}, p_H \rightarrow 0$ assures that the factorization in Eq. (2.3) takes place.¹⁰ Therefore, from Eq. (2.22), after applying Eq. (3.10) to (3.9), we obtain

$$C_{\psi}\left(p_{H}=0\right)=i\left(Y_{\psi}\tilde{B}_{R}-\tilde{A}_{R}Y_{\psi}\right),\tag{3.12}$$

where Y_{ψ} are the diagonal Yukawa couplings, $\tilde{B}_R = \lim_{\text{H.E.}} U_R B_R U_R^{\dagger}$ and $\tilde{A}_R = \lim_{\text{H.E.}} U_L A_R U_L^{\dagger}$ (with A_R, B_R the original couplings appearing in Eq. (2.22)) The equation above needs clarification. The first point regards the appearance of flavor transformations. As mentioned previously, when the fermions are massless we are free to perform $U(3)_{\psi_L} \times U(3)_{\psi_R}$ flavor transformations, while this freedom is lost when they become massive. Hence, when connecting the massive and massless regimes, amplitudes will in general agree up to a flavor transformation [36]. Secondly, the Yukawa matrices can be expressed here as $vY_{\psi} = U_L M_{\psi} U_R^{\dagger}$, where the relation to the mass from an on-shell perspective was shown in Refs. [22, 61] and we provide an alternative derivation in Appendix B. Moreover, from the two previous points we can derive the expressions for \tilde{A}_R, \tilde{B}_R , recalling that the matrices A_R, B_R can depend on higher powers of the fermion masses, such that the high-energy limit selects only the mass-independent

¹⁰We stress that this condition is reminiscent of the *Higgs low-energy theorems* [62–64]. However, these theorems, unlike in our case, are typically employed in the broken phase of electroweak symmetry. And they are used to obtain contributions from loop amplitudes coming from heavy particles that couple to the Higgs, which is not what is stated in Eq. (3.11). Nonetheless, it would be interesting to derive an on-shell perspective of these theorems, which is still missing as far as we know.

term. At zero Higgs momentum, that is, for constant coupling, Eq. (3.12) is identical to what one would expect from ALPs coupled to fermions in a shift-symmetric manner [51, 54–56].

Before moving on to other amplitudes, it is worth to explore in more detail some features of the amplitude $\mathcal{A}_3[\phi\psi\bar{\psi}]$ and its relation to the ALP-Higgs obstruction. At face value, the high-energy limit of this amplitude with couplings given in Eq. (2.22) leads to a vanishing result, since $C_{\psi} \sim M_{\psi}$. This naive result is inconsistent with \mathcal{G}_{SM} -invariance and, for this reason, we had to promote the UV amplitude to a 4-point amplitude with an additional Higgs. One could, however, imagine an alternative route. Using the Weyl equations in Eq. (A.11), it is possible to trade the mass factor for a momentum insertion in the spinor structures, e.g. $M_{\psi} \langle \mathbf{12} \rangle \sim \langle \mathbf{1} | p_{\phi} | \mathbf{2}]$ for the case of angle brackets, with an analogous identity holding for square brackets. This form highlights that the amplitude does not vanish in the high-energy limit and should be directly matched into \mathcal{G}_{SM} -invariant 3-point amplitudes $\mathcal{A}_3[\phi\psi_{L,R}\bar{\psi}_{L,R}]$. But these amplitudes nonetheless vanish identically due to the 3-particle kinematics, leaving us with the 4-point amplitude already discussed as the unique route to match the massive amplitude in the UV.

Another interesting feature of the coefficient in Eq. (3.12) is its connection with the invariants that parameterise the breaking of shift-symmetry defined in Ref. [51]. In this reference, a total of 3 and 10 invariants were constructed in the lepton and quark sector, respectively, using the mathematical properties of $C_{\psi}(p_H = 0)$. From our perspective, the only way to break the coupling structure of Eq. (3.12) is to violate the scaling with the Yukawa matrices (which correspond to a breaking of the dependence on the particle mass in Eq. (2.20), as the phase of the amplitude and the hermiticity of A_R, B_R are fixed by CPT and unitarity. We thus conclude that the maximum number of independent parameters that can break the shift-symmetry (in our language, that gives a singular massless/high energy limit) amounts to the number of independent parameters in the Yukawa matrices, *i.e.* the number of parameters left after all possible flavor transformations are applied. For leptons, taking massless neutrinos, this implies 3 independent parameters; for quarks (with two Yukawa matrices that are correlated in the UV because we have only one left handed doublet), the number increases to 10 (6 masses plus the 4 parameters of the Cabibbo–Kobayashi–Maskawa matrix¹¹). Hence, in the general case in which the Yukawas have the maximal amount of parameters, this counting exactly corresponds to the one found in Ref. [51]. Since, however, the invariants are constructed based on the exact form of the flavor group, we cannot

¹¹The emergence of the Cabibbo–Kobayashi–Maskawa and the Pontecorvo–Maki–Nakagawa–Sakata matrices from the on-shell perspective was studied in Ref. [36].

conclude that by reducing the physical parameters of the Yukawas will necessarily reduce the amount of non-vanishing invariants. In general, their number will only decrease once the flavor group is enlarged.

4 Constructing higher-point functions

So far we dealt with 3-point functions, *i.e.* amplitudes with couplings proportional to 1/f that, at leading order, can be matched onto dimension d = 5 operators. We now proceed to extend our discussion to amplitudes of higher-order and build explicitly the amplitude basis up to $1/f^4$. In the literature, only d = 6 (for instance in Refs. [65, 66]) and a couple of d = 7 operators [65, 67–69] were considered and studied at the phenomenological level. Our present work provides the complete amplitudes, and a courseponding operator basis, up to d = 8 consistent with the ALP properties. Our results agree with what was recently found in the literature, in particular Refs. [70, 71], that use a different on-shell approach, and Ref. [72] that employs Hilbert series techniques.

4.1 Contact amplitudes

The higher-point amplitudes we are interested in are contact ones, *i.e.* amplitudes that are regular in the kinematical invariants, and necessarily involve 4 or more particles. These amplitudes, from now on denoted as \mathcal{A}^{ct} , are part of the physical amplitudes, that is simply the sum of contact and factorizable terms:

$$\mathcal{A}_{\rm phys} = \mathcal{A}^{\rm ct} + \mathcal{A}^{\rm fact}.$$
(4.1)

The factorizable terms are those that can be obtained joining together lower point amplitudes, using *polology* to guarantee the correct pole structure [2, 3]. The strategy is similar to the one we outlined in Section 2 when taking the soft limit: the structure of $\mathcal{A}^{\text{fact}}$ should be such that, when it is possible to exchange an intermediate particle, in the limit in which the intermediate particle goes on-shell the factorizable amplitude factorizes, *i.e.* it can be written as the product of the lower point amplitudes times the propagator of the intermediate particle. Schematically, we thus have $\mathcal{A}_{n_1+n_2-2}^{\text{fact}} = \mathcal{A}_{n_1}^{(1)} \mathcal{A}_{n_2}^{(2)} / (p^2 - m^2)$, where $\mathcal{A}_{n_{1,2}}^{(1,2)}$ are the two lower point amplitudes (a n_1 -point and a n_2 -point amplitude, respectively) and the intermediate particle has momentum p. For simplicity, we are leaving implicit the Levi-Civita tensors that ensure the correct transformation under little group transformations and that depend on the spin of the exchanged particles. Explicit examples of how the factorizable amplitudes can be constructed can be found in Ref. [3].

Dimension 6

Particle content	$\mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{ct}} \times f^2$	$\mathcal{O} imes f^2$
$\phi^2 H \bar{H}$	$p_{\phi_1} \cdot p_{\phi_2}$	$(\partial_{\mu}\phi)(\partial^{\mu}\phi) H ^2$

Table 1. Contact amplitudes suppressed by $1/f^2$ and corresponding d = 6 operators. All the amplitudes are stripped of overall coefficients.

On the other hand, given that \mathcal{A}^{ct} are contact amplitudes (*i.e.* they do not contain propagators), they are by definition regular as $p_{\phi} \to 0$, so we cannot extract any information from them using the ALP soft factorization condition (2.6) alone. In order to make progress, we need an additional physical constraint on them. We impose:

ALP soft contact condition

If $\mathcal{A}_n^{\mathrm{ct}}[\cdots]$ is a contact amplitude with $n \geq 4$ involving at least one massless ALP, then

$$\lim_{p_{\phi} \to 0} \mathcal{A}_n^{\text{ct}}[\cdots] = 0, \tag{4.2}$$

for each ALP ϕ present in the amplitude.

If we look back at the results from Section 2, the only reason that the soft-limit did not give a zero was because of the p_{ϕ} -independent terms, that only appeared because of the singular propagator in Eq. (2.5). Since, now, we do not have such singular terms as we are looking directly at the contact amplitudes, the natural extension of the previous requirement is to have the amplitudes to vanish in the soft-limit. The only exceptions we found to the condition above are the $\mathcal{A}_4[\phi\psi\bar{\psi}H]$ amplitudes (3.9), that have a constant coefficient in Eq. (3.12). However, as discussed in Section 3, these amplitudes must be treated according to the ALP-Higgs obstruction (3.11).

We stress that the regularity conditions of Eqs. (2.6) and (4.2) are, in most cases, equivalent to the Adler's zero condition [44]. In Quantum Field Theoretical language the Adler's zero condition states that, in the soft limit $p_{\phi} \rightarrow 0$, the soft factor is regular when ϕ is emitted from some external leg and vanishes when ϕ is emitted from the interior of the diagram. The only exceptions are, as explained above, those amplitudes involving the Higgs doublet that match into 3-point amplitudes at low energy.

We will now systematically build amplitudes involving ALPs and SM particles in the unbroken electroweak phase, imposing Eq. (4.2). In practice, these amplitudes must scale with some positive power of the ALP momentum. This can either appear in

Particle content	$\mathcal{A}^{ ext{ct}} imes f^3$	$\mathcal{O} imes f^3$			
$\phi_{a}/\mu_{a}/\mu_{a}H$	$(p_{\phi} \cdot p_1) \langle 12 \rangle$	$(\partial_{\mu}\phi)\bar{\psi}H(D^{\mu}\psi)$			
$\psi \psi_1 \psi_2 m$	$\left(p_{\phi}\cdot p_{2} ight)\left\langle 12\right\rangle$	$(\partial_{\mu}\phi)(D^{\mu}\bar{\psi})H\psi$			
	$\langle 13 \rangle \langle 3 p_{\phi} 2], \langle 23 \rangle \langle 3 p_{\phi} 1]$	$(\partial^{\mu}\phi)\bar{\psi}\gamma^{\nu}\psi V_{\mu\nu}$			
dal al V		$(\partial^{\mu}\phi)ar{\psi}\gamma^{ u}\psi ilde{V}_{\mu u}$			
$\psi\psi_1\psi_2v_3$		$(\partial^{\mu}\phi)ar{\psi}\gamma^{ u}T^{A}\psi V^{A}_{\mu u}$			
		$(\partial^{\mu}\phi)ar{\psi}\gamma^{ u}T^{A}\psi ilde{V}^{A}_{\mu u}$			
	$\langle 3 p_{\phi}(p_1 - p_2) 3 \rangle$	$(\partial_{\mu}\phi)(H^{\dagger}i\overleftrightarrow{D_{\nu}}H)V^{\mu\nu}$			
		$(\partial_{\mu}\phi)(H^{\dagger}i\overleftrightarrow{D_{\nu}}H)\widetilde{V}^{\mu\nu}$			
$\varphi \Pi_1 \Pi_2 V_3$		$(\partial_{\mu}\phi)(H^{\dagger}i\overleftrightarrow{D_{\nu}}^{A}H)V^{A,\mu\nu}$			
		$(\partial_{\mu}\phi)(H^{\dagger}i\overleftrightarrow{D_{\nu}}^{A}H)\widetilde{V}^{A,\mu\nu}$			
	$\langle 1 p_{\phi} 2]$	$(\partial_{\mu}\phi)(\bar{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\psi) H ^2$			
ϕ H H $\psi_1 \psi_2$		$\left((\partial_{\mu}\phi)(\bar{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}T^{A}\psi)(H^{\dagger}T^{A}H) \right)$			
$\phi H_1 \bar{H}_2 H_3 \bar{H}_4$	$p_{\phi} \cdot (p_1 - p_2) + $ symm.	$(\partial^{\mu}\phi)(H^{\dagger}i\overleftrightarrow{D_{\mu}}H) H ^{2}$			

Dimension 7

Table 2. Contact amplitudes suppressed by $1/f^3$ and corresponding d = 7 operatores. The symbol ψ denotes SM fermions, while V = B and $V^A = W^A$, G^A denote the abelian and non-abelian SM gauge bosons, respectively. Each operator must be invariant under the SM gauge group and this restricts the type of fields that can appear. The symbol 'symm' indicates that it is necessary to symmetrize the momenta of identical particles according to Bose symmetry. Additional spinor structures can be obtained from the ones shown by swapping angle and square brackets. The operator D_{μ}^{A} is defined as $D_{\mu}^{A} = T^A \overline{D}_{\mu} - \overline{D}_{\mu} T^A$ and the dual field strength as $\tilde{V}_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta} V^{\alpha\beta}$.

the coefficients through Lorentz invariant combinations such as $p \cdot p_{\phi}$, or in the spinor structures themselves, for instance as $\langle p | p_{\phi} | p' \rangle$, with p, p' the momenta of other particles in the amplitude. To have any chance to contribute to amplitudes suppressed at most by f^4 , the spinor structures appearing must have dimension ≤ 4 . Additionally, we also have to impose Bose symmetry when there is more than one identical particle. For

Dimension 8					
Particle content	$\mathcal{A}^{ ext{ct}} imes f^4$	$\mathcal{O} imes f^4$			
ϕ^4	$(p_{\phi_1} \cdot p_{\phi_2})(p_{\phi_3} \cdot p_{\phi_4}) + $ symm.	$(\partial_\mu \phi \partial^\mu \phi)^2$			
$\phi^2 H_{\star} \bar{H}_{\sigma}$	$(p_{\phi_1}\cdot p_{\phi_2})^2$	$(\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\phi\partial^{\mu}\partial^{\nu}\phi) H ^2$			
ψ 111112	$(p_{\phi_1} \cdot p_1) (p_{\phi_2} \cdot p_2) + $ symm.	$(\partial^{\mu}\phi\partial^{\nu}\phi)(D_{\mu}H^{\dagger}D_{\nu}H)$			
	$(p_{\phi_1} \cdot p_{\phi_2}) \langle 12 \rangle^2$	$(\partial_{lpha}\phi\partial^{lpha}\phi)V_{\mu u}V^{\mu u}$			
		$(\partial_lpha \phi \partial^lpha \phi) V_{\mu u} ilde V^{\mu u}$			
$\phi^2 V_{\tau} V_{\tau}$		$(\partial_{lpha}\phi\partial^{lpha}\phi)V^A_{\mu u}V^{A,\mu u}$			
ψ $v_1 v_2$		$(\partial_{lpha}\phi\partial^{lpha}\phi)V^A_{\mu u} ilde{V}^{A,\mu u}$			
	$\langle 1 p_{\phi_1} 2] \langle 1 p_{\phi_2} 2]$	$(\partial^{\mu}\phi\partial_{\nu}\phi)V_{\mulpha}V^{lpha u}$			
		$(\partial^{\mu}\phi\partial_{\nu}\phi)V^{A}_{\mu\alpha}V^{A,\alpha\nu}$			
$\phi^2 \psi_1 ar{\psi}_2$	$(p_{\phi_1} \cdot p_1) \langle 1 p_{\phi_2} 2] + $ symm.	$(\partial_\mu \phi \partial_\nu \phi) (\bar{\psi} \gamma^\mu D^\nu \psi)$			
$\phi^2 \psi_1 \bar{\psi}_2 H$	$(p_{\phi_1} \cdot p_{\phi_2}) \langle 12 \rangle$	$(\overline{\partial_\mu \phi \partial^\mu \phi}) \overline{\psi} H \psi$			
$\phi^2 H^4$	$p_{\phi_1} \cdot p_{\phi_2}$	$(\partial_\mu \phi \partial^\mu \phi) H ^4$			

Table 3. Same as Tables 1 and 2 for contact amplitudes of order $1/f^4$ and the correspondent d = 8 operators. We do not consider amplitudes that violate baryon or lepton number.

simplicity, we assume only one species of ALP ϕ .

Let us illustrate the method with an example, $\phi^2 V_1 V_2$, for which we have four helicity configurations for the vectors: (-, -), (+, +), (+, -) and (-, +). For the (-, -) configuration, little-group covariance and dimensional analysis allow us to write only the spinor structure $\langle 12 \rangle^2$. This can satisfy Eq. (4.2) only if multiplied by invariants proportional to $p_{\phi_{1,2}}$, appropriately symmetrized to satisfy Bose symmetry. The only possibility at the mass dimension of interest is $p_{\phi_1} \cdot p_{\phi_2}$ and the amplitude is

$$\mathcal{A}_4^{\rm ct} \left[\phi^2 V_1^- V_2^- \right] \propto \frac{p_{\phi_1} \cdot p_{\phi_2}}{f^4} \left\langle 12 \right\rangle^2. \tag{4.3}$$

Note that we could have built different kinematical invariants with more powers of momenta, but they would induce an amplitude of higher order in f. An identical reasoning applies to the (+, +) helicity configuration, for which the amplitude has exactly the same form, provided we exchange the angle brackets with square brackets. We thus obtain a second independent spinor structure. The (-, +) configuration requires, instead, a momentum insertion of the ALP in between the brackets, as we need to connect an angle with a square spinor. The only symmetric combination in $p_{\phi_{1,2}}$ is then

$$\mathcal{A}_{4}^{\text{ct}} \left[\phi^{2} V_{1}^{-} V_{2}^{+} \right] \propto \frac{1}{f^{4}} \left\langle 1 | p_{\phi_{1}} | 2 \right] \left\langle 1 | p_{\phi_{2}} | 2 \right].$$
(4.4)

The (+, -) configuration can be obtained from the equation above just swapping angle for squared brackets. Unlike the previous case, this does not produce an independent spinor structure since, due to Bose symmetry, once we exchange angle and square brackets, re-label the momenta as $1 \leftrightarrow 2$ and use the identity $[p|q|k\rangle = \langle k|q|p]$, we obtain exactly the same spinor combination we began with. As a consequence, for each vector V we can reconstruct only 3 independent operators:

$$\mathscr{L}_{d=8} \supset \frac{C}{f^4} (\partial_\alpha \phi) (\partial^\alpha \phi) V_{\mu\nu} V^{\mu\nu} + \frac{C'}{f^4} (\partial_\alpha \phi) (\partial^\alpha \phi) V_{\mu\nu} \tilde{V}^{\mu\nu} + \frac{C''}{f^4} (\partial^\mu \phi) (\partial_\nu \phi) V_{\mu\alpha} V^{\alpha\nu},$$

$$(4.5)$$

with C, C', C'' dimensionless coefficients. Note that in the list above we do not have the operator $(\partial^{\mu}\phi)(\partial_{\nu}\phi)V_{\mu\alpha}\tilde{V}^{\alpha\nu}$. Although not trivial, it can be shown that this operator is redundant [73]. From our on-shell construction, however, the non-redundant operators were singled out automatically.¹² We observe that, were we considering a generic pseudoscalar Φ and not an ALP ϕ , it would be possible to write down additional terms in the amplitude, that vanish in the ALP case. For instance, for the case just discussed, the amplitude would be

$$\mathcal{A}_{4}^{\text{ct}}[\Phi^{2}V_{1}^{-}V_{2}^{-}] = \frac{c_{1}}{f^{2}}\langle 12\rangle^{2} + \frac{c_{1}\left(p_{\Phi_{1}}\cdot p_{\Phi_{2}}\right)}{f^{4}}\langle 12\rangle^{2}, \qquad (4.6)$$

where $c_{1,2}$ are dimensionless constants. It is only when we consider ALPs and we impose the ALP soft contact condition of Eq. (4.2) that $c_1 = 0$ and we are left with Eq. (4.3). As a second example, let us consider the amplitude between two pseudoscalars and two Higgs doublets. In the case of a generic pseudoscalar, the amplitude can be written up to $\mathcal{O}(f^{-4})$ as

$$\mathcal{A}_{4}^{\text{ct}}[\Phi^{2}H_{1}\bar{H}_{2}] = c_{0}' + \frac{c_{1}'}{f^{2}}p_{\Phi_{1}} \cdot p_{\Phi_{2}} + \frac{c_{2}'}{f^{4}}\left(p_{\Phi_{1}} \cdot p_{\Phi_{2}}\right)^{2} + \frac{c_{3}'}{f^{4}}\left((p_{\Phi_{1}} \cdot p_{1})(p_{\Phi_{2}} \cdot p_{2}) + \text{symm}\right),$$
(4.7)

¹²On-shell techniques have been used to systematically construct higher-dimensional operators in general effective theories [27, 74].

where symm denotes the momenta symmetrization according to Bose symmetry and the constants $c'_{0,1,2,3}$ are dimensionless. On the other hand, when we consider ALPs, the ALP soft contact condition forces $c'_0 = 0$ and we are left only with the terms proportional to the ALPs momenta:

$$\mathcal{A}_{4}^{\mathrm{ct}}[\phi^{2}H_{1}\bar{H}_{2}] = \frac{c_{1}'}{f^{2}}p_{\phi_{1}} \cdot p_{\phi_{2}} + \frac{c_{2}'}{f^{4}}\left(p_{\phi_{1}} \cdot p_{\phi_{2}}\right)^{2} + \frac{c_{3}'}{f^{4}}\left((p_{\phi_{1}} \cdot p_{1})(p_{\phi_{2}} \cdot p_{2}) + \mathrm{symm}\right).$$
(4.8)

For both cases of the generic pseudo-scalar and ALPs, the basis of amplitudes that satisfy the ALP soft contact condition (4.2) is the same.

We present the list of higher-point amplitudes suppressed by f^{-2} , f^{-3} and f^{-4} and the correspondent dimension 6, 7 and 8 operators in Tables 1, 2 and 3, respectively. For each amplitude we only show independent spinor structures, with the exception of those that can be obtained exchanging angle with square brackets which are left implicit. We also do not write explicitly overall coefficients that may depend on SM gauge group structures like group generators.¹³ These coefficients will depend on the particles appearing in the amplitude and their quantum numbers. We show explicit examples in Appendix A for the case of 3-point amplitudes with SM particles. For the higher dimensional operators, we only show the general particle content, with ψ representing SM fermions, V = B the abelian SM gauge boson and $V^A = W^A$ or G^A the SM non-abelian gauge bosons. Each operator should be invariant under the SM gauge group and, as usual, this imposes restrictions on the particles that can appear in each operators. We observe that some spinor structure involving spin 1 particles may involve both abelian or non-abelian gauge bosons. The difference in this case lies in the overall coefficient that we do not write explicitly, but the amplitude corresponds to different operators depending on the nature of the spin 1 particle involved. To avoid confusion, we make explicit the dependence on the gauge bosons when we write the operators corresponding to the amplitude under consideration. For instance, the $\langle 1|p_{\phi_1}|2]\langle 1|p_{\phi_2}|2]$ amplitude may correspond to the d=8 operators $(\partial^{\mu}\phi\partial_{\nu}\phi)V_{\mu\alpha}V^{\nu\alpha}$ or $(\partial^{\mu}\phi\partial_{\nu}\phi)V^{A}_{\mu\alpha}V^{A,\nu\alpha}$, depending on the vector considered.

We conclude stressing that the constant coefficients that multiply the amplitudes in Tables 1, 2 and 3 are not further constrained by Eq. (4.2), in sharp contrast to the amplitudes suppressed by f^{-1} discussed in Section 3.

¹³In Eqs. (4.3) and (4.4), for example, if V is an abelian boson the proportionality factor is just a constant, while if it is non-abelian then $\mathcal{A}_4^{\text{ct}}[\phi^2 V_1^A V_2^B] \propto \delta^{AB}$, where δ^{AB} takes into account the \mathcal{G}_{SM} tensor structure.

4.2 Corrections to photon and gluon couplings

The construction of amplitudes suppressed by higher powers of f follows in similar fashion, with their number quickly growing. One interesting class of amplitudes is $\mathcal{A}^{\text{ct}}[\phi VVH^n \overline{H}^n]$, with $n \geq 1$ and V a massless gauge boson, *i.e.* a photon or a gluon at low-energy, that start only at dimension 7. In the non-dynamical limit of the Higgs, these amplitudes are the only ones that can modify the dimension 5 coupling of the 3-point amplitudes (3.8) of the ALPs to massless gauge bosons, thus they can give us an insight of how the low-energy amplitudes are affected by the higher-point ones.

According to little-group invariance, and taking the negative helicity configuration for the spin 1 particles as example, these amplitudes can be written schematically as

$$\frac{\mathcal{A}^{\text{ct}}\left[\phi V_1^- V_2^- H^n \bar{H}^n\right]}{\langle 12 \rangle^2 / f^{2n+1}} = c_0 + (p_V \cdot p_H) \frac{c_1}{f^2} + (p_\phi \cdot p_H) \frac{c_2}{f^2} + (p_V \cdot p_\phi) \frac{c_3}{f^2} + \cdots, \quad (4.9)$$

where $c_{0,1,\cdots}$ are dimensionless (complex) constant coefficients and the dots denote higher-order terms with more powers of kinematical invariants. Moreover, p_H represents Bose symmetric combinations of momenta of the vectors and Higgs, and $p_V = p_1 + p_2$, which is the sole combination of $p_{1,2}$ that respects Bose symmetry. Imposing the ALP soft contact condition (4.2) implies that $c_0 = c_1 = 0$, while c_2, c_3 may be non-vanishing. As stressed before, we also need to take the non-dynamical limit of the Higgs (3.10) in order for $\mathcal{A}^{\text{ct}}[\phi VVH^n\bar{H}^n]$ to contribute to the low-energy amplitude $\mathcal{A}_3[\phi VV]$. Taking the non-dynamical limit (3.10) implies that all the structures in Eq. (4.9) that contain p_H will vanish at low-energy. Thus, the only relevant terms will be the ones proportional to $p_V \cdot p_{\phi}$. Since the resulting amplitude is a 3-point amplitude, momentum conservation implies that $p_V = -p_{\phi}$ and the final amplitude ends up proportional to p_{ϕ}^2 . All the steps above can be summarized as

$$\mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{ct}}\left[\phi V_{1}^{-}V_{2}^{-}H^{n}\bar{H}^{n}\right] \xrightarrow{\mathrm{Eq.}\,(4.2)} \left[\left(p_{\phi} \cdot p_{H}\right)\frac{c_{2}}{f^{2}} + \left(p_{V} \cdot p_{\phi}\right)\frac{c_{3}}{f^{2}} + \cdots \right] \frac{\langle 12\rangle^{2}}{f^{2n+1}} \\ \xrightarrow{\mathrm{Eq.}\,(3.10)} \left[\left(p_{V} \cdot p_{\phi}\right)\frac{c_{3}}{f^{2}} + \cdots \right] \left(\frac{v}{f}\right)^{2n} \frac{\langle 12\rangle^{2}}{f} \\ \xrightarrow{p_{V}=-p_{\phi}} - \left[c_{3} + \cdots\right] \frac{p_{\phi}^{2}}{f^{2}} \left(\frac{v}{f}\right)^{2n} \frac{\langle 12\rangle^{2}}{f},$$

$$(4.10)$$

where the term inside the square bracket is constant and can depend on higher powers of p_{ϕ}^2 . One the one hand, if the ALP is exactly massless, $p_{\phi}^2 = 0$, the low-energy couplings are not corrected by higher-dimensional operators, as Eq. (4.10) vanishes. On the other hand, if we allow for a small mass $p_{\phi}^2 = m_{\phi}^2$, we see that all corrections are suppressed



Figure 3. Diagrams contributing to $\ell^-\ell^+ \to \phi h$ generated by the operators described in the text. Black circles denote the insertion of operators containing the ALP. For the last diagram, also the crossed contribution in which the h and ϕ legs are exchanged should be considered.

by at least the ALP mass squared. This conclusion agrees with what was previously argued in Refs. [75–77] and follows straightforwardly from our formalism.

5 A phenomenological application : $\ell^-\ell^+ \rightarrow \phi h$

The phenomenological impact of higher-dimensional ALP operators have been previously considered in Refs. [65, 67–69], where the effects of the d = 6 operator $(\partial_{\mu}\phi)(\partial^{\mu}\phi)|H|^2$ and of the d = 7 operator $(\partial^{\mu}\phi)(H^{\dagger}i\overset{\frown}{D}_{\mu}H)|H|^2$ were studied in the context of collider physics. In this section we will turn our attention to the d = 7operators $(\partial_{\mu}\phi)(D^{\mu}\psi)H\psi$, $(\partial_{\mu}\phi)\psi H(D^{\mu}\psi)$ and explore their phenomenology at lepton colliders. More precisely, we will study the impact of these operators in the process $\ell^{-}\ell^{+} \rightarrow \phi h$, with $\ell = e, \mu$ and h the physical Higgs, that can in principle be tested at future lepton colliders.

The full set of operators that we will consider is

$$\mathscr{L}_{\text{int}} = \frac{C_{\phi^2 H^2}}{2f^2} (\partial_{\mu}\phi) (\partial^{\mu}\phi) |H|^2 + \frac{C_{\phi H^4}}{f^3} (\partial^{\mu}\phi) (H^{\dagger}i\overleftrightarrow{D}_{\mu}H) |H|^2 + \sum_{\ell=e,\mu} i \frac{C_{\phi\ell^2 H}}{f} y_{\ell} \phi \bar{L}_{\ell} H \ell_R + \frac{C_{\phi\ell^2 HD^2}^{(1)}}{f^3} (\partial_{\mu}\phi) (D^{\mu}\bar{L}_{\ell}) H \ell_R + \frac{C_{\phi\ell^2 HD^2}^{(2)}}{f^3} (\partial_{\mu}\phi) \bar{L}_{\ell} H (D^{\mu}\ell_R) + h.c.$$
(5.1)

where $L_{e,\mu}$ are the left-handed doublets of the first and second families, while e_R and μ_R are the corresponding right-handed fields. We denote by $C_{\phi^2 H^2}, C_{\phi H^4}, C_{\phi \ell^2 H}, C_{\phi \ell^2 H D^2}^{(1,2)}$ the Wilson coefficients, noticing that $C_{\phi \ell^2 H}$ is real and we have already factorized the



Figure 4. Left: Ratio between the cross-sections with and without dimension 7 operators as a function of the center of mass energy. We take the modulus of the ratio of d = 7 and d = 5 coefficients equal to 1. The bands are obtained by varying the sign between $C_{\phi\ell^2HD^2}^{(1,2)}$. Right: Total cross-section with the inclusion of d = 7 operators as a function of the center of mass energy, taking $C_{\phi\ell^2HD^2}^{(1,2)} = C_{\phi\ell^2H} = 1$. All cross-sections are computed taking $m_{\phi} = 0$. For both panels the solid curves denote $\ell = e$ and dashed $\ell = \mu$, while blue (orange) means $f = 10^4 (10^5)$ GeV.

Yukawa y_{ℓ} explicitly.¹⁴ We do not consider lepton flavor violating couplings and will always assume that the d = 5 coupling has the structure given by Eq. (3.12). Also, we only consider ALP effective interactions and do not include any SMEFT operators.

After electroweak symmetry breaking, the operators in Eq. (5.1) will generate the diagrams contributing to $\ell^-\ell^+ \to \phi h$ shown in Fig. 3. More in detail, diagrams (i) and (iv) receive contributions from both $C_{\phi\ell^2 H}$ and $C_{\phi\ell^2 HD^2}^{(1,2)}$, diagram (ii) gets contributions from $C_{\phi\ell^2 H}$, $C_{\phi\ell^2 HD^2}^{(1,2)}$ and $C_{\phi^2 H^2}$ while diagram (iii) is only generated by $C_{\phi H^4}$. To compute the corresponding cross-section, we generate and manipulate the total amplitude using FeynRules [78], FeynArts [79] and FeynCalc [80, 81]. In the limit of very high-energies, $\sqrt{s} \gg v$, with \sqrt{s} the center-of-mass energy and v the Higgs vacuum expectation value, the differential cross-section in the center-of-mass frame simplifies to the following expression:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma^{\mathrm{tot}}(\ell^{-}\ell^{+} \to \phi h)}{\mathrm{d}\cos\theta} \simeq \frac{1}{512\pi f^{6}} \Big[(u^{2} + t^{2}) \left(|C^{(1)}_{\phi\ell^{2}HD^{2}}|^{2} + |C^{(2)}_{\phi\ell^{2}HD^{2}}|^{2} \right) + 4tu \mathrm{Re} \left(C^{(1)}_{\phi\ell^{2}HD^{2}} C^{(2)*}_{\phi\ell^{2}HD^{2}} \right) \Big],$$
(5.2)

¹⁴Having in mind the structure of Eq. (3.12), our parametrization amounts to suppose that $Y_{\ell}\tilde{A}_R - \tilde{B}_R Y_{\ell}$ equals the Yukawa coupling times an order one factor that we denote by $C_{\phi\ell^2 H}$, as expected by power counting.

where $t = (p_{\ell^-} - p_h)^2$ and $u = (p_{\ell^-} - p_{\phi})^2$. Inspection of Eq. (5.2) shows that, in the high energy limit, the only relevant contributions are those coming from $C_{\phi\ell^2HD^2}^{(1,2)}$ and, more specifically, from diagram (i), due to the fact that only this diagram give a contribution that grows quadratically with the center-of-mass energy. The conclusion is that, even though d = 7 operators are suppressed by more powers of f, they can still give the dominant contribution to observables for sufficiently high energies. This strongly relies on the fact that the coefficient of the d = 5 operator is Yukawa suppressed, while an analogue suppression does not exist for the d = 7 operators. We also observe that Eq. (5.2) is still the leading contribution even if effects from d = 8,9 operators are included. This is because, to give a cross section at the same order in 1/f, they would need to interfere with d = 6,5 operators, respectively, and would thus be suppressed by powers of masses and v. The same is true if loop effects involving multiple insertions of the d = 5 operator are considered, since they are doubly suppressed (by one loop factor and by the lepton Yukawa coupling) and are thus not expected to change our conclusions.

To quantify the effects of the d = 7 operators and compare them to those of the d = 5 operator, we show in Fig. 4 the complete cross-section (in which particle masses and the Higgs vacuum expectation value are properly taken into account) as a function of \sqrt{s} , with $\sigma^{\text{tot},(5)}$ denoting, respectively, the total cross-section and the cross-section computed with only d = 5 operators. Since $C_{\phi\ell^2HD^2}^{(1,2)}$ give the dominant contribution at high-energies, we set $C_{\phi^2H^2} = C_{\phi H^4} = 0$. Furthermore, we take $C_{\phi\ell^2H} = |C_{\phi\ell^2HD^2}^{(1,2)}| = 1$, while we allow for a different signs between $C_{\phi\ell^2HD^2}^{(1)}$ and $C_{\phi\ell^2HD^2}^{(2)}$. On the left panel, we plot the ratio $\sigma^{\text{tot}}/\sigma^{(5)}$ for $\ell = e, \mu$ and $f = 10^4$ GeV (blue lines) and $f = 10^5$ GeV (orange lines). Continuous lines refer to $e^+e^- \rightarrow \phi h$ while dashed lines refer to $\mu^+\mu^- \rightarrow \phi h$. The bands are obtained varying the sign between $C_{\phi\ell^2HD^2}^{(1)}$ and $C_{\phi\ell^2HD^2}^{(2)}$ and $C_{\phi\ell^2HD^2}^{(2)}$. As we can see, at high energies σ^{tot} can be larger than $\sigma^{(5)}$ by many orders of magnitude. The effect is larger for electrons, since $\sigma^{(5)}$ is suppressed by smaller Yukawa couplings.

On the right panel we instead show how σ^{tot} grows with energy, with the same conventions used in the left panel. Inspecting the two muon cross-sections shown, we clearly see the transition from the low energy regime (dominated by the d = 5operator and essentially independent on energy ¹⁵) and the high energy energy regime, in which the d = 7 operator dominates and the cross-section scales as s^2 as predicted by Eq. (5.2). It is interesting to notice that for $f = 10^4$ GeV the dimension 7 effects can push the cross-section to reasonable values ($\sigma^{\text{tot}} \sim 1$ fb), while it would remain out of reach considering only the d = 5 operator ($\sigma^{(5)} \leq 10^{-5}$ fb).

¹⁵When \sqrt{s} is comparable to the Higgs mass, the cross section is not flat with respect to \sqrt{s} because of the threshold.

From the EFT perspective, it is to be expected that higher-dimensional operators dominate the cross-section when the energy is close to the cut-off f. What makes the present case more special and interesting is that the effects of the d = 7 operators are relevant much before $\sqrt{s} \sim f$. This is a direct consequence of the fact that the ALP soft factorization condition (2.6) required the coefficient of the d = 5 amplitude to be proportional to the Yukawa, while the ALP soft contact condition (4.2) did not impose such selection rule on the d = 7 operators. We see from Fig. 4 that, at the phenomenological level, this distinction between d = 5 and d = 7 operators might be extremely relevant, since, for instance for electrons, the contribution from d = 5 is always subdominant.

6 Conclusions

Given a scattering amplitude involving ALPs, what is the set of physical properties that it must satisfy to recover shift-symmetry? Of course, starting from a Lagrangian and requiring it to be shift-symmetry invariant is not a complete answer to this question, as we are not making statements about the amplitudes themselves. Taking the on-shell approach, that bypasses fields and Lagrangians, makes the question even less obvious, but provides a natural framework for working it out. In this paper, using on-shell methods, we have identified three conditions that allow us to construct amplitudes with the desired shift-symmetric properties. All three conditions rely on the properties of the amplitude in the limit of soft ALP momentum.

The first condition, that we call ALP soft factorization condition, Eq. (2.6), enables to reproduce the correct amplitudes when the ALP is interacting with two massive particles, *i.e.*, in the case of amplitudes suppressed by f^{-1} , with f the scale associated with the ALP (Section 2). In addition to constructing these amplitudes, we also discuss at length how they can be connected with amplitudes that involve SM particles and are invariant under the SM symmetry group at high energies. While the case of the coupling of an ALP to Higgs doublets or gauge bosons is relatively straightforward, the case of fermions is more subtle, due to an interesting obstruction that emerges because of a combination of the kinematic of 3-point amplitudes and invariance under the SM symmetry group. In Section 3 we identify a second condition, the *ALP-Higgs obstruction*, that deals with this latter amplitude by relying on electroweak symmetry breaking and on the fact that, in the limit in which the Higgs momentum becomes soft, the 4-point amplitude which is invariant under the SM symmetry becomes a 3-point amplitude with massive fermions. The consequence is that the scattering amplitude ends up being proportional to the Yukawa coupling of the fermions involved.

The third condition, that we call ALP soft contact condition, Eq. (4.2), allows to determine the correct amplitudes when the ALP is interacting with more than two other particles. Since these higher-point amplitudes correspond to effective operators suppressed by higher powers of f, we determine in Section 4, solely using scattering amplitudes, the complete list of operators up to d = 8. Among the higher dimensional operators, of particular interest for low energy physics are those that involve one ALP, two massless spin-1 bosons and a number of Higgs pairs, since in the limit of nondynamical Higgs they correct the dimension 5 amplitude between one ALP and two massless spin-1 bosons. We show that on-shell techniques allow us to conclude in a straightforward way that the dimension 5 amplitude is corrected only if the ALP mass is different from zero, while the corrections vanish for a massless ALP. We also study a phenomenological application in which these higher dimensional operators can dominate over the d = 5 ones: the process $\ell^+ \ell^- \to \phi h$ at high energy lepton colliders (Section 5). We find that, due to the Yukawa suppression of the d = 5 operator, the d = 7 ones can dominate already at energies $\sqrt{s} \ll f$, where they are typically expected to give only subdominant contributions with respect to the d = 5 operators.

We observe that the ALP soft factorization condition and the ALP soft contact condition are equivalent to requiring the amplitude to manifest the Adler's zero in the limit of soft ALP limit. Nevertheless, this procedure is not completely universal, since they cannot be applied to 4-point amplitudes involving one Higgs doublet. As we have shown, in this case we must resort to the ALP-Higgs obstruction condition of Eq. (3.11), which can be seen as a generalization of the Adler's zero to this case.

Our work can be extended in several directions. First of all, having derived the shift-symmetric ALP amplitudes, it follows immediately that all additional terms that do not satisfy our conditions must break the shift-symmetry. An interesting point would be to investigate how some sort of power counting could be applied to such coefficients without resorting to Lagrangians. Moreover, as we already conjectured at the end of Section 2, it would be interesting to study how general loop diagrams could make regular the multi-soft limit in which several ALPs momenta are taken to zero at the same time. A third aspect that can be explored would be the generalization to amplitudes involving several different ALPs, *i.e.* to the case in which we have spontaneous symmetry breaking of a non-abelian group. Possible applications would be to the study of amplitudes involving light mesons and matter particles (like nucleons or vector mesons) in Chiral Perturbation Theory, or the coupling between a Composite Higgs and SM fermions and gauge bosons. Moreover, since on-shell methods can be used to derive the renormalization group equations of effective operators [10-13], amplitudes with more than one ALP can be used to study the effects of light ALPs in the running of Wilson coefficients of operators of the Standard Model Effective Field Theory. Finally,

the on-shell scattering amplitudes formalism extended using the techniques of Ref. [82] can, in principle, be used to compute the interactions between ALPs and photons when magnetic monolopoles are present [83, 84]. We leave the study of these aspects to future work.

Acknowledgments

We thank M. Ramos, G. Guedes, J. Roosmale Nepveu, and specially C.-Y. Yao and J. Kley for useful discussion. We are also grateful to S. De Angelis, Q. Bonnefoy, G. Durieux and Y. Shadmi for insightful comments on an early draft. E.B. acknowledges financial support from "Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de São Paulo" (FAPESP) under contract 2019/04837-9, as well as partial support from "Conselho Nacional de Deselvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico" (CNPq). G.M.S. acknowledges financial support from "Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de São Paulo" (FAPESP) under contracts 2020/14713-2 and 2022/07360-1. This work is supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft under Germany's Excellence Strategy EXC 2121 "Quantum Universe" - 390833306. This work has been also partially funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft under the grant 491245950. This project has received funding from the European Union's Horizon Europe research and innovation programme under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie Staff Exchange grant agreement No 101086085 - ASYMMETRY. This project has received funding /support from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under the Marie Skłodowska - Curie grant agreement No 860881-HIDDeN.

A Conventions

A.1 Spinor variables

In this Appendix, we set the notation for the spinor variables and summarize the identities we use. The starting point is the covariance of the S-matrix under little-group, that allows us to write scattering amplitudes as a sum of all possible kinematical structures that carry the correct little-group transformation, each multiplied by a corresponding coupling. The building blocks for these kinematical structures are 2-component spinors. For massless momenta we define the spinor variables as

$$|p\rangle \equiv |p\rangle_{\alpha}, \quad |p] \equiv |p]^{\dot{\alpha}}, \quad \langle p| \equiv \langle p|^{\alpha}, \quad [p| \equiv [p]_{\dot{\alpha}}, \quad (A.1)$$

where $\alpha, \dot{\alpha}$ are SL(2, C) indices for left- and right-handed spinors, respectively. The spinors $|p\rangle, \langle p|$ are referred to as *angle* spinors, while |p], [p] as *square* spinors. They transform under the U(1) little-group with opposite phases:

$$|p\rangle \to e^{-i\eta} |p\rangle, \quad |p] \to e^{i\eta} |p], \quad \eta \in \mathbb{R}.$$
 (A.2)

All indices can be raised and lowered with the Levi–Civita tensor that is defined by $\epsilon^{12} = -\epsilon_{12} = 1$, for instance $|p\rangle_{\alpha} = \epsilon_{\alpha\beta} \langle p|^{\beta}$. The spinors above satisfy

$$p_{\mu}(\bar{\sigma}^{\mu})^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} \equiv p^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} \equiv |p|^{\dot{\alpha}} \langle p|^{\alpha}, \quad p_{\mu}(\sigma^{\mu})_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \equiv p_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \equiv |p\rangle_{\alpha} [p|_{\dot{\alpha}}, \qquad (A.3)$$

$$p |p\rangle = p |p] = \langle p | p = [p | p = 0.$$
(A.4)

Equation (A.3) is simply the defining equation of the spinors, where $\sigma^{\mu} = (\mathbf{1}, \vec{\sigma})$ and $\bar{\sigma}^{\mu} = (\mathbf{1}, -\vec{\sigma})$, while in Eq. (A.4) we have the Weyl equations. For a massless 4-momentum $(p^{\mu}) = |\vec{p}|(1, \sin\theta\cos\phi, \sin\theta\sin\phi, \cos\theta)$, with \vec{p} the 3-momentum, one possible realization for the spinors in Eq. (A.3) is given by

$$\begin{aligned} (\langle p |^{\alpha}) &= -\sqrt{2|\vec{p}|} \begin{pmatrix} c \\ s^* \end{pmatrix}, \quad (|p]^{\dot{\alpha}}) &= -\sqrt{2|\vec{p}|} \begin{pmatrix} c \\ s \end{pmatrix}, \\ (|p\rangle_{\alpha}) &= \sqrt{2|\vec{p}|} \begin{pmatrix} s^* \\ -c \end{pmatrix}, \quad ([p|_{\dot{\alpha}}) &= \sqrt{2|\vec{p}|} \begin{pmatrix} s \\ -c \end{pmatrix}, \end{aligned}$$
(A.5)

where $c \equiv \cos \frac{\theta}{2}$, $s \equiv e^{i\phi} \sin \frac{\theta}{2}$. We can also define the usual anti-symmetric Lorentz invariant products of spinors:

$$\langle pq \rangle \equiv \langle p|^{\alpha} |q \rangle_{\alpha}, \quad [pq] \equiv [p|_{\dot{\alpha}} |q]^{\dot{\alpha}}, \quad (A.6)$$

with the contraction of up- and down-indices performed with the Levi–Civita tensor. These products can be computed explicitly using Eq. (A.5).

For massive momenta we adopt the notation of Ref. [3] and define bold angle and square spinors as

$$|\boldsymbol{p}\rangle \equiv \left|p^{I}\right\rangle_{\alpha}, \quad |\boldsymbol{p}] \equiv \left|p^{I}\right]^{\dot{\alpha}}, \quad \langle \boldsymbol{p}| \equiv \left\langle p^{I}\right|^{\alpha}, \quad [\boldsymbol{p}| \equiv \left[p^{I}\right]_{\dot{\alpha}}, \quad (A.7)$$

where now I = 1, 2 is the SU(2) index of the little-group, that are also raised and lowered through the Levi–Civita tensor. Contrary to the massless case, the bold spinors transform in the same way under little-group as

$$\left|p^{I}\right\rangle \to W^{I}_{J}\left|p^{J}\right\rangle, \quad \left|p^{I}\right] \to W^{I}_{J}\left|p^{J}\right], \quad W \in SU(2),$$
 (A.8)

and analogous for $\langle \boldsymbol{p} |$ and $[\boldsymbol{p} |$. The massive spinors satisfy similar relations as Eq. (A.3), but with the inclusion of the SU(2) little-group indices:

$$p^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} \equiv \epsilon_{IJ} \left| p^I \right|^{\dot{\alpha}} \left\langle p^J \right|^{\alpha}, \quad p_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \equiv -\epsilon_{IJ} \left| p^I \right\rangle_{\alpha} \left[p^J \right|_{\dot{\alpha}}.$$
(A.9)

With the same parametrization as in Eq. (A.5), we can represent the massive spinors in terms of the components of the 4-momentum as

$$\begin{aligned} (\langle p^{I} |^{\alpha}) &= -\left(\begin{array}{c} c\sqrt{E+|\vec{p}|} \\ s^{*}\sqrt{E+|\vec{p}|} \\ c\sqrt{E-|\vec{p}|} \end{array} \right), (|p^{I}]^{\dot{\alpha}}) &= -\left(\begin{array}{c} s^{*}\sqrt{E-|\vec{p}|} \\ -c\sqrt{E-|\vec{p}|} \\ s\sqrt{E+|\vec{p}|} \\ s\sqrt{E+|\vec{p}|} \end{array} \right), \\ (|p^{I}\rangle_{\alpha}) &= \left(\begin{array}{c} s^{*}\sqrt{E+|\vec{p}|} \\ -c\sqrt{E+|\vec{p}|} \\ -c\sqrt{E+|\vec{p}|} \\ s\sqrt{E-|\vec{p}|} \end{array} \right), ([p^{I}]_{\dot{\alpha}}) &= \left(\begin{array}{c} -c\sqrt{E-|\vec{p}|} \\ -s^{*}\sqrt{E-|\vec{p}|} \\ -s^{*}\sqrt{E-|\vec{p}|} \\ -c\sqrt{E+|\vec{p}|} \\ \end{array} \right), \end{aligned}$$
(A.10)

where the first (second) column refers to I = 1 (2), while the rows are for different SL(2, C) indices. Also, $E = \sqrt{m^2 + |\vec{p}|^2}$ is the energy and, as before, \vec{p} the 3-momentum. In writing Eq. (A.10), we have assumed that momenta, and in particular the mass m, are real and positive. For the expressions with complex momenta, we refer the reader to Ref. [3] and references therein. From the expressions above it is immediate to check that

$$p_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \left| p^{I} \right]^{\dot{\alpha}} = -m \left| p^{I} \right\rangle_{\alpha}, \quad p^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} \left| p^{I} \right\rangle_{\alpha} = -m \left| p^{I} \right]^{\alpha}, \\ \left\langle p^{I} \right|^{\alpha} p_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = m \left[p^{I} \right]_{\dot{\alpha}}, \quad \left[p^{I} \right]_{\dot{\alpha}} p^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} = m \left\langle p^{I} \right|^{\alpha},$$
(A.11)

which are the massive version of the Weyl equations in (A.4). We note that in the massive Weyl equations (A.11) the two types of spinors are related by the mass m. The anti-symmetric spinor product is defined in the same way as before

$$\langle \boldsymbol{p}\boldsymbol{q}\rangle \equiv \langle p^{I}q^{J}\rangle = \langle p^{I}|^{\alpha} |q^{J}\rangle_{\alpha}, \quad [\boldsymbol{p}\boldsymbol{q}] \equiv [p^{I}q^{J}] = [p^{I}|_{\dot{\alpha}} |q^{J}]^{\dot{\alpha}}.$$
 (A.12)

From the Weyl equations we can also derive

$$\langle p^I p^J \rangle = -m\epsilon^{IJ}, \quad [p^I p^J] = m\epsilon^{IJ}.$$
 (A.13)

It is possible to connect the spinor variables associated to massive particles to the corresponding massless variables. Each of the massive spinor helicity variables in Eq. (A.10) can be decomposed as [3]

$$\left|p^{I}\right\rangle = \left|p\right\rangle\zeta_{+}^{I} + \sqrt{m}\left|\hat{p}\right]\zeta_{-}^{I}, \quad \left|p^{I}\right] = \left|p\right]\zeta_{+}^{I} + \sqrt{m}\left|\hat{p}\right\rangle\zeta_{-}^{I}, \quad (A.14)$$

where $|p\rangle$, |p] are the same massless variables in Eq. (A.5) and $\zeta_{+} = (1, 0)$, $\zeta_{-} = (0, 1)$. This decomposition is the mathematical expression of our physical intuition that in the massive spinor helicity variables there will always be a component with the "wrong" helicity (*i.e.* angle brackets will contain square brackets and vice-versa), but this contribution will be proportional to the particle mass. To make explicit the mass dependence, we have introduced the dimensionless spinor helicity variables $|\hat{p}\rangle \equiv |p\rangle /\sqrt{m}$ and $|\hat{p}] \equiv |p] /\sqrt{m}$. To see why this decomposition is useful, we discuss the example of the product $\langle pq \rangle = \langle p^I q^J \rangle$, that can be written as

$$\langle \boldsymbol{p}\boldsymbol{q}\rangle = \langle pq\rangle \left(\zeta_{+}^{I}\zeta_{+}^{J} + \frac{m}{\langle pq\rangle} [\hat{p}\hat{q}]\zeta_{-}^{I}\zeta_{-}^{J}\right).$$
(A.15)

Given that the product $[\hat{p}\hat{q}]$ is finite, we define the *high-energy limit* as the limit $m/\langle pq \rangle \to 0$, for which the second term between brackets vanishes. In a more concise way, the high-energy limit of $\langle pq \rangle$ is given by

$$\lim_{\text{H.E.}} \langle \boldsymbol{p}\boldsymbol{q} \rangle = \lim_{\text{H.E.}} \langle p^{I} q^{J} \rangle = \langle pq \rangle \,\delta_{1}^{I} \delta_{1}^{J} \,, \tag{A.16}$$

where H.E. stands for High-Energy, *i.e.* for the $m/\langle pq \rangle \to 0$ limit, and $\delta_1^I \delta_2^J = \zeta_+^I \zeta_+^J$. An analogous discussion also holds for [pq]. We thus see that, for the amplitudes with a simple dependence on the spinor helicity variables as those we are discussing in this paper, the high energy limit simply amounts to the "unbolding" of the massive spinor products

$$\langle \boldsymbol{p}\boldsymbol{q} \rangle \to \langle pq \rangle \,\delta_1^I \delta_1^J, \quad [\boldsymbol{p}\boldsymbol{q}] \to [pq] \,\delta_2^I \delta_2^J.$$
 (A.17)

It is also useful to consider spinors with negative momenta, for which the analytic continuation compatible with Eq. (A.11) reads

$$|-\boldsymbol{p}\rangle = |\boldsymbol{p}\rangle, \quad |-\boldsymbol{p}] = -|\boldsymbol{p}|.$$
 (A.18)

Other useful identities are

$$\langle p|q|k] = [k|q|p\rangle,$$

$$\langle p|\sigma^{\mu}|q] \langle k|\sigma_{\mu}|l] = -2 \langle pk\rangle [ql]$$
(A.19)

where $\langle p|q|k] \equiv \langle p|^{\alpha} q_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} |k|^{\dot{\alpha}}$ and similar for $[k|q|p\rangle$. The same relations also hold for massive spinors.

Finally, to compute the soft factors in Section 2, more precisely the p_{ϕ} -independent piece in Eq. (2.9), we can use the explicit representations for the spinors in Eqs. (A.5) and (A.10). Starting with a massive momentum p and a massless one p_{ϕ} , we have:

$$\left\langle p^{I} \left(p + p_{\phi} \right)^{J} \right\rangle = \left(\begin{array}{c} 0 & -m \\ \sqrt{(E - |\vec{p}|)(E + |\vec{p}| + 2|\vec{p}_{\phi}|)} & 0 \end{array} \right)^{IJ},$$

$$\left[p^{I} \left(p + p_{\phi} \right)^{J} \right] = \left(\begin{array}{c} 0 & \sqrt{(E - |\vec{p}|)(E + |\vec{p}| + 2|\vec{p}_{\phi}|)} \\ -m & 0 \end{array} \right)^{IJ},$$
(A.20)

where we are assuming that the angle between the 3-momenta \vec{p} and \vec{p}_{ϕ} is zero. We can see that in the limit $p_{\phi} \to 0$ we recover Eq. (A.13). Had we instead started with both massless p and p_{ϕ} , such that the angle between the 3-momenta is $\theta \ll 1$, we would have obtained

$$\left\langle p \ (p+p_{\phi})^{I} \right\rangle = \theta \left(-|\vec{p}_{\phi}| \sqrt{\frac{|\vec{p}|}{|\vec{p}|+|\vec{p}_{\phi}|}}, \ -|\vec{p}| \sqrt{\frac{|\vec{p}_{\phi}|}{|\vec{p}|+|\vec{p}_{\phi}|}} \right)^{I} + \mathcal{O}\left(\theta^{2}\right),$$

$$\left[p \ (p+p_{\phi})^{I} \right] = \theta \left(-|\vec{p}| \sqrt{\frac{|\vec{p}_{\phi}|}{|\vec{p}|+|\vec{p}_{\phi}|}}, \ |\vec{p}_{\phi}| \sqrt{\frac{|\vec{p}|}{|\vec{p}|+|\vec{p}_{\phi}|}} \right)^{I} + \mathcal{O}\left(\theta^{2}\right),$$

$$(A.21)$$

which are relevant quantities for the computation of Eq. (2.19). Note that in Eq. (A.21) we still have a SU(2) little-group index, as $p + p_{\phi}$ is not massless.

A.2 Construction of amplitudes

To write down amplitudes, we use the fact that the S-matrix is covariant under littlegroup transformations. This implies that we can express the amplitudes as a sum of all possible Lorentz-invariant combinations of spinor variables that have the correct little-group transformation.

For massless particles the little-group transformation is given by Eq. (A.2) and, according to the covariance of the S-matrix, the amplitude must transform as $\mathcal{A} \to e^{-2ih}\mathcal{A}$, with h the helicity of the corresponding particle. Specializing to the case of 3point amplitudes, little-group covariance gives us three constraints, while the amplitude can be built out of 6 spinor products, namely $\langle 12 \rangle$, $\langle 23 \rangle$, $\langle 13 \rangle$ and the same with square brackets. We use here the short-hand notation $|n\rangle \equiv |p_n\rangle$ to label the momenta in the spinors. Due to 3-particle kinematics, however, all these products vanish if the momenta are real. Relaxing this hypothesis, we find that we can either have the angle contractions or the square ones to be non-vanishing, thus leaving us with only three independent Lorentz-invariant products. Up to coefficients, this allows us to completely fix the amplitude [1, 2, 5]:

$$\mathcal{A}_{3} \propto \begin{cases} \langle 12 \rangle^{h_{3}-h_{1}-h_{2}} \langle 23 \rangle^{h_{1}-h_{2}-h_{3}} \langle 13 \rangle^{h_{2}-h_{1}-h_{3}}, \sum_{i} h_{i} \leq 0\\ [12]^{h_{1}+h_{2}-h_{3}} [23]^{h_{2}+h_{3}-h_{1}} [13]^{h_{1}+h_{3}-h_{2}}, \sum_{i} h_{i} \geq 0 \end{cases},$$
(A.22)

where $h_{1,2,3}$ are the helicities of the particles. For higher-point functions, we cannot completely fix the amplitude, since we have more spinor contractions than little-group transformation rules.

When considering massive particles the discussion is more involved, because both angle and square spinors transform in the same way under little-group. Nevertheless, one can simply write the amplitude as a sum of all independent spinor structures, each with a different coefficient (see Ref. [32] for a classification). For a massive particle of spin s, the transformation of the amplitude is given by the completely symmetric 2s tensor representation, which is equivalent to the usual representation in terms of the total spin and its projection [3]. Hence, each term in the amplitude must contain exactly 2s spinors, angle and/or square, of this given particle.

A.3 *CPT* invariance and unitarity

To extract information on the phases of the amplitudes, we need to relate them to their complex conjugate, which can be done using CPT invariance and unitarity. In terms of the transfer matrix T, the amplitude for a state \mathcal{O} is written as $\mathcal{A}[\mathcal{O}] = \langle 0|T\mathcal{O}\rangle$, where we take all particles to be incoming and 0 is the vacuum. Using CPT invariance of the S-matrix, one can show that $\langle 0|T\mathcal{O}\rangle = \langle \mathcal{O}_{\Theta}|T0\rangle$, with Θ representing the action of CPT in the multi-particle states, that amounts to reversing the spin (*i.e.* changing up and down little-group indices in the massive case, or flipping the helicity for massless particles) and swapping particles with anti-particles [6]. In addition, when applying Θ we must also reverse the ordering of the particles in the amplitude, that can lead to extra minus signs in the case of fermions. Then, unitarity of the S-matrix imposes that $T \simeq T^{\dagger}$ up to corrections of order $T^{\dagger}T$. We therefore obtain at leading order

$$\mathcal{A}[\mathcal{O}] \simeq \mathcal{A}[\mathcal{O}_{\Theta}]^*. \tag{A.23}$$

The complex conjugation of spinor structures can be found to yield

$$\left\langle p^{I}q^{J}\right\rangle^{*} = -\left[p_{I}q_{J}\right],\tag{A.24}$$

that holds when considering real momenta with positive energy [85, 86].

A.4 Feynman rules with spinor variables

It is also instructive to show how some Feynman rules for effective operators are translated in terms of spinor variables. To do so, we first need to express the external wave-functions in terms of spinors. For spin 1/2 and spin 1 particles we have, respectively,

$$v^{I}(p) = \begin{pmatrix} |p^{I}\rangle \\ |p^{I}] \end{pmatrix}, \quad \bar{v}_{I}(p) = (-\langle p_{I} |, [p_{I} |),$$

$$u^{I}(p) = \begin{pmatrix} |p^{I}\rangle \\ -|p^{I}] \end{pmatrix}, \quad \bar{u}_{I}(p) = (\langle p_{I} |, [p_{I} |),$$

(A.25)

$$\epsilon_{\mu}(p) = \frac{\langle \boldsymbol{p} | \sigma_{\mu} | \boldsymbol{p}]}{\sqrt{2}m_V}, \quad \text{or} \quad \epsilon(p)_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = \sqrt{2} \frac{| \boldsymbol{p} \rangle [\boldsymbol{p} |}{m_V},$$
(A.26)

where u, v, \bar{u}, \bar{v} are the usual solutions to the Dirac equation, and ϵ_{μ} is the massive polarization vector, with m_V the mass of the spin 1 particle. Considering a Yukawa interaction of the form

$$\mathscr{L}_{\text{Yukawa}} = -\phi \left(g_L \psi_R^{\dagger} \psi_L + g_R \psi_L^{\dagger} \psi_R \right), \qquad (A.27)$$

the corresponding on-shell amplitude with all-in convention is

$$\mathcal{A}_{3}\left[\phi\psi_{1}^{I}\bar{\psi}_{2}^{J}\right] = -\bar{u}^{J}(-p_{2})\begin{pmatrix}g_{L} & 0\\ 0 & g_{R}\end{pmatrix}u^{I}(p_{1}) = g_{L}\left\langle1^{I}2^{J}\right\rangle + g_{R}\left[1^{I}2^{J}\right].$$
 (A.28)

For vectors the relevant interactions are

$$\mathscr{L}_{V} = \frac{m_{V}c_{0}}{2}\phi V_{\mu}V^{\mu} + g\phi V_{\mu\nu}V^{\mu\nu} + \tilde{g}\phi V_{\mu\nu}\tilde{V}^{\mu\nu}.$$
 (A.29)

The corresponding amplitude is

$$\mathcal{A}_{3}\left[\phi V_{1}^{I_{1},I_{2}}V_{2}^{J_{1},J_{2}}\right] = \left(2\frac{m_{V}c_{0}}{2}\eta_{\mu\nu} + 4g[p_{1}^{\nu}p_{2}^{\mu} - (p_{1}\cdot p_{2})\eta_{\mu\nu}] + 4\tilde{g}\epsilon_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}p_{1}^{\alpha}p_{2}^{\beta}\right)\epsilon^{\mu}(p_{1})\epsilon^{\nu}(p_{2})$$
$$= 2(i\tilde{g}-g)\langle\mathbf{12}\rangle^{2} - 2(i\tilde{g}+g)\left[\mathbf{12}\right]^{2} - \frac{c_{0}}{m_{V}}\langle\mathbf{12}\rangle\left[\mathbf{12}\right],$$
(A.30)

where we note explicitly the $1/m_V$ scaling of the last term. To manipulate the Levi– Civita we have used

$$\epsilon_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{4i} \Big(\operatorname{Tr}[\bar{\sigma}_{\mu}\sigma_{\nu}\bar{\sigma}_{\alpha}\sigma_{\beta}] - \operatorname{Tr}[\sigma_{\mu}\bar{\sigma}_{\nu}\sigma_{\alpha}\bar{\sigma}_{\beta}] \Big).$$
(A.31)

A.5 SM amplitudes

For completeness, we present here as well the SM 3-point amplitudes we use to derive our results in Section 3:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{A}_{3} \Big[Q_{1}^{ibn} \bar{u}_{m2}^{a} H^{j} \Big] &= (Y_{u}^{\dagger})^{ab} \delta_{m}^{n} \epsilon^{ij} \langle 12 \rangle , \quad \mathcal{A}_{3} \Big[\bar{Q}_{in1}^{b} u_{2}^{am} \bar{H}_{j} \Big] = (Y_{u}^{\dagger})^{ba} \delta_{m}^{m} \epsilon_{ij} [12] , \\ \mathcal{A}_{3} \Big[Q_{1}^{ibn} \bar{d}_{m2}^{a} \bar{H}_{j} \Big] &= (Y_{d}^{\dagger})^{ab} \delta_{m}^{m} \delta_{j}^{i} \langle 12 \rangle , \quad \mathcal{A}_{3} \Big[\bar{Q}_{in1}^{b} d_{2}^{am} H^{j} \Big] = (Y_{d}^{\dagger})^{ba} \delta_{m}^{m} \delta_{j}^{i} [12] , \\ \mathcal{A}_{3} \Big[Q_{1}^{ibn} \bar{Q}_{jm2}^{a} G_{3}^{A+} \Big] &= -\sqrt{2} g_{s} T_{mn}^{A} \delta_{j}^{i} \delta_{a}^{b} \frac{[23]^{2}}{[12]} , \quad \mathcal{A}_{3} \Big[Q_{1}^{ibn} \bar{Q}_{jm2}^{a} G_{3}^{A-} \Big] &= \sqrt{2} g_{s} T_{mn}^{A} \delta_{j}^{i} \delta_{a}^{b} \frac{\langle 13 \rangle^{2}}{\langle 12 \rangle} , \\ \mathcal{A}_{3} \Big[u_{1}^{bn} \bar{u}_{m2}^{a} G_{3}^{A+} \Big] &= \sqrt{2} g_{s} T_{mn}^{A} \delta_{a}^{b} \frac{[13]^{2}}{[12]} , \quad \mathcal{A}_{3} \Big[u_{1}^{bn} \bar{u}_{m2}^{a} G_{3}^{A-} \Big] &= -\sqrt{2} g_{s} T_{mn}^{A} \delta_{a}^{b} \frac{\langle 23 \rangle^{2}}{\langle 12 \rangle} , \\ \mathcal{A}_{3} \Big[H_{1}^{i} \bar{H}_{j2} W_{3}^{A-} \Big] &= -\sqrt{2} g_{T} T_{ji}^{A} \frac{\langle 13 \rangle \langle 23 \rangle}{\langle 12 \rangle} , \quad \mathcal{A}_{3} \Big[H_{1}^{i} \bar{H}_{j2} W_{3}^{A+} \Big] &= -\sqrt{2} g_{T} T_{ji}^{A} \frac{\langle 13 \rangle \langle 23 \rangle}{\langle 12 \rangle} , \\ \mathcal{A}_{3} \Big[H_{1}^{i} \bar{H}_{j2} B_{3}^{-} \Big] &= -\sqrt{2} g' y_{H} \delta_{j}^{i} \frac{\langle 13 \rangle \langle 23 \rangle}{\langle 12 \rangle} , \quad \mathcal{A}_{3} \Big[H_{1}^{i} \bar{H}_{j2} B_{3}^{+} \Big] &= -\sqrt{2} g' y_{H} \delta_{j}^{i} \frac{\langle 13 \rangle \langle 23 \rangle}{\langle 12 \rangle} , \quad \mathcal{A}_{3} \Big[H_{1}^{i} \bar{H}_{j2} B_{3}^{+} \Big] &= -\sqrt{2} g' y_{H} \delta_{j}^{i} \frac{\langle 13 \rangle \langle 23 \rangle}{\langle 12 \rangle} , \quad \mathcal{A}_{3} \Big[H_{1}^{i} \bar{H}_{j2} B_{3}^{+} \Big] &= -\sqrt{2} g' y_{H} \delta_{j}^{i} \frac{\langle 13 \rangle \langle 23 \rangle}{\langle 12 \rangle} , \quad \mathcal{A}_{3} \Big[H_{1}^{i} \bar{H}_{j2} B_{3}^{+} \Big] = -\sqrt{2} g' y_{H} \delta_{j}^{i} \frac{\langle 13 \rangle \langle 23 \rangle}{\langle 12 \rangle} , \quad \mathcal{A}_{3} \Big[H_{1}^{i} \bar{H}_{j2} B_{3}^{+} \Big] = -\sqrt{2} g' y_{H} \delta_{j}^{i} \frac{\langle 13 \rangle \langle 23 \rangle}{\langle 12 \rangle} , \quad \mathcal{A}_{3} \Big[H_{1}^{i} \bar{H}_{j2} B_{3}^{+} \Big] = -\sqrt{2} g' y_{H} \delta_{j}^{i} \frac{\langle 13 \rangle \langle 23 \rangle}{\langle 12 \rangle} , \quad \mathcal{A}_{3} \Big[H_{1}^{i} \bar{H}_{j2} B_{3}^{+} \Big] = -\sqrt{2} g' y_{H} \delta_{j}^{i} \frac{\langle 13 \rangle \langle 23 \rangle}{\langle 12 \rangle} , \quad \mathcal{A}_{3} \Big[H_{1}^{i} \bar{H}_{j2} B_{3}^{+} \Big] = -\sqrt{2} g' y_{H} \delta_{j}^{i} \frac{\langle 13 \rangle \langle 23 \rangle}{\langle 12 \rangle} , \quad \mathcal{A}_{3} \Big[H_{1}^{i} \bar{H}_{j2} B_{3}^{+} \Big] = -\sqrt{2} g' y_{H} \delta_{j}^{i} \frac{\langle$$

where the expressions are analogous for other fermions and vector bosons, g', g, g_s are the gauge couplings and y_H the Higgs hypercharge. In the equations above a, bdenote flavor indices, i, j indices from the fundamental of $SU(2)_L$ and m, n for the fundamental of $SU(3)_c$. We use T^A for the generators of both non-abelian groups. Here, the conventions are chosen such to correspond to covariant derivatives defined as $D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - igV_{\mu}$, and the Yukawas as $\mathscr{L}_{Yukawa} = -Y_{\psi}\bar{\psi}_L H\psi_R + h.c.$.

B Yukawa - Mass connection

In this Appendix we present an alternative way to understand the relation between fermion masses in the broken electroweak phase and the Yukawa matrices in the unbroken phase. This relation was previously studied in Ref. [22] (and more recently in Ref. [61]) by analysing how the "freezing" of external Higgs particles can make massless spinors become massive. Here instead, we show explicitly that we can understand the Higgsing as a modification to the dispersion relation of the fermions, which is very similar to the analysis performed in Ref. [36] for neutrino propagation in matter.

Consider a generic amplitude \mathcal{A} that has a factorization channel in ψ_R for $p^2 \to 0$, with ψ_R being one of the massless right-handed fermions of the SM. More precisely,

$$\lim_{p^2 \to 0} \mathcal{A} = \lim_{p^2 \to 0} \mathcal{A}_L^a \frac{\delta^{ab}}{p^2} \mathcal{A}_R^b = (\mathcal{A}_L) \xrightarrow{\psi_R} (\mathcal{A}_R), \qquad (B.1)$$

where $\mathcal{A}_{L,R}^a$ are the sub-amplitudes, a, b are flavor indices and we leave implicit spinorial indices and the Levi–Civita tensor. Consider now the same amplitude with the addition of an Higgs - anti-Higgs pair in the $p_H, p_{\bar{H}} \to 0$ limit, in such a way that the Higgses become non-dynamical. Given that the Higgs interacts with the fermions through Yukawa interactions,

$$\mathcal{A}_{3}\left[\psi_{L,1}^{b}\bar{\psi}_{R,2}^{a}\bar{H}\right] = (Y_{\psi}^{\dagger})^{ab} \langle 12 \rangle, \quad \mathcal{A}_{3}\left[\bar{\psi}_{L,1}^{a}\psi_{R,2}^{b}H\right] = (Y_{\psi})^{ab} [12], \quad (B.2)$$

where $H \leftrightarrow \overline{H}$ in the case of *u*-quarks and ignoring SM group indices, we can make recursive use of *polology* to show that the amplitude will feature extra factorization channels as $p^2, p_H, p_{\overline{H}} \to 0$. Schematically¹⁶,

$$\lim_{p_H, p_{\bar{H}} \to 0} \lim_{p^2 \to 0} \mathcal{A} \Big[H, \bar{H} \Big] = \underbrace{\begin{array}{c} \mathcal{A}_L \\ \mathcal{A}_L \\ \mathcal{A}_L \\ \mathcal{A}_L \\ \mathcal{A}_L \\ \mathcal{A}_R \\ \mathcal{$$

¹⁶Here we ignore the contributions from the Higgs being emitted by the other external legs, that contribute to them becoming massive and therefore are not relevant to our computations.

Note that we need one Higgs and one anti-Higgs, because otherwise we would not obtain a factorization to the same amplitudes $\mathcal{A}_{L,R}^a$. Evaluating the amplitude above we obtain

$$\lim_{p_{H}, p_{\bar{H}} \to 0} \lim_{p^{2} \to 0} v^{2} \mathcal{A} \Big[H, \bar{H} \Big]$$

$$= \lim_{p_{H}, p_{\bar{H}} \to 0} \lim_{p^{2} \to 0} \mathcal{A}_{L}^{a} \frac{1}{p^{2}} \frac{v(Y_{\psi})^{ca} \left[(-p - p_{H})p \right]}{(p + p_{H})^{2}} \frac{v(Y_{\psi}^{\dagger})^{bc} \left\langle (p + p_{H})(-p - p_{H} - p_{\bar{H}}) \right\rangle}{(p + p_{H} + p_{\bar{H}})^{2}} \mathcal{A}_{R}^{b},$$
(B.4)

where we insert one factor of v for each Higgs becoming non-dynamical. We remark that the momenta $p + p_H$ and $p + p_H + p_{\bar{H}}$ in the expression above are in principle massive and should carry a massive little-group index. We have checked that, since we take the limit $p_{H,\bar{H}} \to 0$ in the end, we obtain the same results using massless spinors. The numerator of Eq. (B.4) can be rewritten as

$$\left[(-p-p_H)p\right]\langle(p+p_H)(-p-p_H-p_{\bar{H}})\rangle \simeq \left[pp_H\right]\langle p_Hp\rangle = (p+p_H)^2,\tag{B.5}$$

where we have neglected higher-order terms in Higgs momenta. With the simplification above the limit becomes

$$\lim_{p_{H}, p_{\bar{H}} \to 0} \lim_{p^{2} \to 0} v^{2} \mathcal{A} \big[H, \bar{H} \big] = \lim_{p^{2} \to 0} \mathcal{A}_{R}^{b} \frac{1}{p^{2}} \frac{v^{2} (Y_{\psi}^{\dagger} Y_{\psi})^{ba}}{p^{2}} \mathcal{A}_{L}^{a}.$$
(B.6)

It is clear that Eq. (B.6) contributes to the original amplitude without the Higgs - anti-Higgs pair, as the latter are removed from the external states. Hence, after we take all Higgs non-dynamical we arrive at

$$\lim_{p_{H}, p_{\bar{H}} \to 0} \lim_{p^{2} \to 0} \left(\mathcal{A} + v^{2} \mathcal{A} \left[H, \bar{H} \right] + \cdots \right) = \lim_{p^{2} \to 0} \mathcal{A}_{R}^{b} \frac{1}{p^{2}} \left[\delta^{ba} + \frac{v^{2} (Y_{\psi}^{\dagger} Y_{\psi})^{ba}}{p^{2}} + \cdots \right] \mathcal{A}_{L}^{a},$$
(B.7)

where the dots denote similar amplitudes computed with more Higgs insertions, which are given by analogous expressions. It is possible to resum all the contributions:

$$\frac{1}{p^2} \left[\delta^{ba} + \frac{v^2 (Y_{\psi}^{\dagger} Y_{\psi})^{ba}}{p^2} + \cdots \right] = \left[\frac{1}{p^2 - v^2 Y_{\psi}^{\dagger} Y_{\psi}} \right]^{ba},$$
(B.8)

hence it is clear that the Higgs "background" modifies the dispersion relations of the fermions by inducing an effective mass. Note that the propagator above does not respect locality manifestly, due to the matrix structure of the Yukawas. Nevertheless, it is always possible to find basis in which the propagator becomes diagonal and we therefore restore manifest locality. The necessity to perform such rotation is nothing but a realization of the mismatch between the massless and massive flavor basis. The mass matrix is given by

$$M_{\psi}^{2} = v^{2} U_{R}^{\dagger} Y_{\psi}^{\dagger} Y_{\psi} U_{R} = v^{2} \left(Y_{\psi}^{\dagger} Y_{\psi} \right)_{\text{diagonal}}, \tag{B.9}$$

where $U_R \in U(3)_{\psi_R}$, the right-handed flavor group of the massless phase of the theory. To be able to write directly the mass matrix in terms of the Yukawa, we can repeat the same steps above with a factorization channel on a left-handed fermion and obtain similarly $M_{\psi}^2 = U_L^{\dagger} Y_{\psi} Y_{\psi}^{\dagger} U_L$, where now $U_L \in U(3)_{\psi_L}$. In order for both expressions to match, the mass must be given by

$$M_{\psi} = v U_L^{\dagger} Y_{\psi} U_R. \tag{B.10}$$

It is interesting to notice that for the neutrino sector, in the absence of a Yukawa interaction involving right-handed neutrinos, we can still generate masses via the Weinberg amplitude

$$\mathcal{A}_4[H^2L^2] = c_W \langle 12 \rangle, \qquad (B.11)$$

with L the lepton doublet. Repeating the reasoning above for this interaction, we obtain

$$M_{\nu}^2 = v^4 (c_W^{\dagger} c_W)_{\text{diagonal}}, \tag{B.12}$$

and we can thus see explicitly the different scaling with the scale v when compared to Eq. (B.10).

C One-loop running of $\mathcal{A}[\phi\psi\bar{\psi}H]$

In this Appendix we describe in more detail the computation of the beta function used in Section 3 using the methods of generalized unitarity [5, 7–12, 87–95]. For 1-loop beta functions, the master formula reads [10, 91]

$$\left(\gamma_{\mathcal{O}_{i}}-\gamma_{\mathrm{IR}}^{(\mathcal{O}_{i})}\right)\mathcal{A}\left[\mathcal{O}_{i}\right] = \frac{i}{8\pi^{4}}\sum_{a}\int\mathrm{d}\Pi\left[\ell_{1},\ell_{2}\right]\oint_{z=\infty}\frac{\mathrm{d}z}{z}\mathcal{A}_{L}^{(a)}\left[\hat{\ell}_{1},\hat{\ell}_{2}\right]\mathcal{A}_{R}^{(a)}\left[-\hat{\ell}_{1},-\hat{\ell}_{2}\right],\tag{C.1}$$

where $\gamma_{\mathcal{O}_i}$ is the anomalous dimension of the amplitude $\mathcal{A}[\mathcal{O}_i]$. The formula above is obtained by selecting bubble diagrams from the Passarino–Veltman decomposition [96], which is the only topology that can contain UV divergences. This is achieved by first performing all 2-cuts (labeled by *a*), that result in the product of two tree amplitudes $\mathcal{A}_{L,R}^{(a)}$ integrated over the 2-body phase-space $\mathrm{d}\Pi[\ell_1, \ell_2]$ of the two cut momenta $\ell_{1,2}$. Doing so does not select only bubbles, since 2-cuts get contributions from triangles and boxes as well. To remove them, we shift $\ell_{1,2}$ to the complex plane using a BCFW-like shift [52, 53], $\hat{\ell}_{1,2} = \ell_{1,2} \pm z \ell_{2,1}$ and integrate over dz/z around z = 0. Then, we deform the contour around the origin as a sum over contours around poles and at $z = \infty$. The poles can only come from triangles and boxes, as they have uncut propagators. So dropping them and keeping only the residue at infinity guarantees that we are selecting only the bubbles. The numerical factor $i/8\pi^4$ arises from collecting the divergent piece of the bubble $(-1/8\pi^2)$, normalizing the phase-space integral $(2/\pi)$ and from Cauchy's theorem $(1/2\pi i)$. Also, $\gamma_{\text{IR}}^{(\mathcal{O}_i)}$ denotes the IR contribution to the anomalous dimension that must be subtracted, and that depends only on the external particles of $\mathcal{A}[\mathcal{O}_i]$.

We are interested in computing the contribution of the amplitude $\mathcal{A}_3[\phi GG]$ to the running of $\mathcal{A}_4[\phi\psi\bar{\psi}H]$. For concreteness, let us choose $\mathcal{A}_4[\phi\bar{Q}dH]$ and $\mathcal{A}_4[\phi Q\bar{d}\bar{H}]$. For the first amplitude we have only two possible 2-cuts:



where we ignore other cuts that do not involve $\mathcal{A}_3[\phi GG]$. In addition, A, A' and n, n', m, m' are indices of the adjoint and fundamental of $SU(3)_c$, respectively, a, a', b, b' of flavor and i, i', j, j' of the fundamental of $SU(2)_L$. To compute the 2-cuts above, we need the corresponding 4-point amplitudes. They can be computed using Eqs. (3.6) and (A.32):

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{A}_{4} \Big[\phi Q_{1}^{a'i'n'} \bar{Q}_{in2}^{a} G_{3}^{A+} \Big] &= -\frac{\sqrt{2}g_{s}g_{G}^{+}}{f} T_{nn'}^{A} \delta_{i}^{i'} \delta^{aa'} \frac{[23]^{2}}{[12]}, \\ \mathcal{A}_{4} \Big[\phi d_{1}^{a'n'} \bar{d}_{i2}^{a} G_{3}^{A+} \Big] &= \frac{\sqrt{2}g_{s}g_{G}^{+}}{f} T_{nn'}^{A} \delta^{aa'} \frac{[13]^{2}}{[12]}, \\ \mathcal{A}_{4} \Big[\phi Q_{1}^{a'i'n'} \bar{Q}_{in2}^{a} G_{3}^{A-} \Big] &= \frac{\sqrt{2}g_{s}g_{G}^{-}}{f} T_{nn'}^{A} \delta_{i}^{i'} \delta^{aa'} \frac{\langle 13 \rangle^{2}}{\langle 12 \rangle}, \\ \mathcal{A}_{4} \Big[\phi d_{1}^{a'n'} \bar{d}_{n2}^{a} G_{3}^{A-} \Big] &= -\frac{\sqrt{2}g_{s}g_{G}^{-}}{f} T_{nn'}^{A} \delta^{aa'} \frac{\langle 23 \rangle^{2}}{\langle 12 \rangle}, \\ \mathcal{A}_{4} \Big[\bar{Q}_{in1}^{a} d_{2}^{a'n'} G_{3}^{A-} H^{i'} \Big] &= -\sqrt{2}g_{s} T_{nn'}^{A} (Y_{d})^{aa'} \delta_{i}^{i'} \frac{[12]^{2}}{[23][13]}, \end{aligned}$$
(C.3)

$$\mathcal{A}_{4}\left[Q_{1}^{ain}\bar{d}_{n'2}^{a'}G_{3}^{A+}\bar{H}_{i'}\right] = -\sqrt{2}g_{s}T_{nn'}^{A}(Y_{d}^{\dagger})^{a'a}\delta_{i'}^{i}\frac{\langle 12\rangle^{2}}{\langle 23\rangle\langle 13\rangle}$$

where T^A denotes the generators of $SU(3)_c$ and g_G^{\pm} the ALP-gluon couplings. The product of the two amplitudes in the left 2-cut in Eq. (C.2) reads

$$\begin{aligned} (\mathbf{I}) &= (-1)\mathcal{A}_{4} \left[\phi Q_{\ell_{1}}^{a'i'n'} \bar{Q}_{in1}^{a} G_{\ell_{2}}^{A+} \right] \mathcal{A}_{4} \left[\bar{Q}_{j'm'(-\ell_{1})}^{b'} d_{2}^{bm} G_{(-\ell_{2})}^{A'-} H_{4}^{j} \right] \delta^{AA'} \delta^{b'a'} \delta_{i'}^{j'} \delta_{n'}^{m'} \\ &= -\frac{2\mathcal{C}_{A}(\mathbf{3})g_{s}^{2}g_{G}^{+}}{f} (Y_{d})^{ab} \delta_{i}^{j} \delta_{n}^{m} \frac{\left[1\ell_{2} \right]^{2} \left[\ell_{1} 2 \right]^{2}}{\left[1\ell_{1} \right] \left[\ell_{1} \ell_{2} \right] \left[2\ell_{2} \right]}, \end{aligned}$$
(C.4)

with $C_A(\mathbf{3})$ the Casimir of the adjoint of $SU(3)_c$. The extra minus sign above takes into account fermion ordering, *i.e.* to arrange the amplitudes as we have defined in Eqs. (A.32) and (C.3) we need to anti-commute some fermions, leading to an extra minus. Note that only one helicity configuration of the gluons contribute, as the SM amplitude $\mathcal{A}_4[\bar{Q}dGH]$ is non-zero for only one choice of gluon helicity. Then, we shift $\ell_{1,2}$ to the complex plane as

$$|\ell_1\rangle \to |\ell_1\rangle + z |\ell_2\rangle, \quad |\ell_2] \to |\ell_2] - z |\ell_1], \qquad (C.5)$$

while $|\ell_1|$ and $|\ell_2\rangle$ remain unchanged. After performing the shift above and selecting the residue at $z = \infty$ we obtain

$$(\mathbf{I}) \to -2\pi i \frac{2\mathcal{C}_A(\mathbf{3})g_s^2 g_G^+}{f} (Y_d)^{ab} \delta_i^j \delta_n^m \frac{2\left[1\ell_2\right] \left[2\ell_1\right] - \left[1\ell_1\right] \left[2\ell_2\right]}{\left[\ell_1\ell_2\right]}.$$
 (C.6)

Now comes the phase-space integration. To this end, we write $\ell_{1,2}$ as linear combinations of external momenta [11, 22, 87, 89],

$$\begin{pmatrix} |\ell_1] \\ |\ell_2] \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos\theta & -e^{i\phi}\sin\theta \\ e^{-i\phi}\sin\theta & \cos\theta \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} |4] \\ |2] \end{pmatrix},$$
(C.7)

where ϕ is the azimutal and θ the half-polar angles. The angle spinors are related in similar way, but with an extra complex conjugation. Inserting Eq. (C.7) in (C.6) and integrating over phase-space

$$\int d\Pi[\ell_1, \ell_2] (\mathbf{I}) = -2\pi i \frac{2\mathcal{C}_A(\mathbf{3})g_s^2 g_G^+}{f} (Y_d)^{ab} \delta_i^j \delta_n^m \left(-\frac{3\pi}{4} [12]\right).$$
(C.8)

The 2-cut on the right in Eq. (C.2) is computed analogously. The product of the amplitudes is

$$(\mathrm{II}) = \mathcal{A}_{4} \left[\phi d_{2}^{bm} \bar{d}_{m'\ell_{1}}^{b'} G_{\ell_{2}}^{A+} \right] \mathcal{A}_{4} \left[\bar{Q}_{in1}^{a} d_{n'(-\ell_{1})}^{a'} G_{(-\ell_{2})}^{A'-} H_{4}^{j} \right] \delta^{AA'} \delta^{b'a'} \delta_{m'}^{n'} = \frac{2\mathcal{C}_{A}(\mathbf{3}) g_{s}^{2} g_{G}^{+}}{f} (Y_{d})^{ab} \delta_{i}^{j} \delta_{n}^{m} \frac{[2\ell_{2}]^{2} [\ell_{1}1]^{2}}{[2\ell_{1}] [\ell_{1}\ell_{2}] [1\ell_{2}]},$$
(C.9)

where now we do not have any extra minus from fermion ordering. Note that the spinor structure from expression above is identical to the one in Eq. (C.4) by changing $1 \leftrightarrow 2$. Thus,

$$\int d\Pi[\ell_1, \ell_2] (II) = 2\pi i \frac{2\mathcal{C}_A(\mathbf{3})g_s^2 g_G^+}{f} (Y_d)^{ab} \delta_i^j \delta_n^m \left(\frac{3\pi}{4} [12]\right).$$
(C.10)

The result of both 2-cuts must be then inserted in Eq. (C.1) and compared to $\mathcal{A}_4[\phi \bar{Q} dH]$. It is important to notice that the 2-cuts produced the same kinematical structure as the original amplitude. Besides, there is no contribution from IR divergences in this case [25, 26]. We arrive at

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}C_d}{\mathrm{d}\log\mu} = -\frac{g_s^2 g_G^+}{\pi^2} Y_d , \quad \frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{C}_d}{\mathrm{d}\log\mu} = -\frac{g_s^2 g_G^-}{\pi^2} Y_d^\dagger, \tag{C.11}$$

where we included the result also for the conjugate amplitude, that follows in a very similar way. The results above, properly translated to the usual language by Eq. (A.30), agree with previous computations in the literature [54–56]. At leading order, the couplings g_G^{\pm} are related by complex conjugation according to Eq. (A.23), which implies that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{C}_d}{\mathrm{d}\log\mu} \simeq \frac{\mathrm{d}C_d^{\dagger}}{\mathrm{d}\log\mu},\tag{C.12}$$

up to two-loop effects. As a consequence, we can use the results of Section 3 and, to be consistent with the 1-flavor limit, must satisfy $g_G^- = -g_G^+$. Therefore,

$$g_G^- = -g_G^+ = iC_{\phi GG}, \quad C_{\phi GG} \in \mathbb{R},$$
(C.13)

that corresponds solely to the $\phi G \tilde{G}$ coupling, as we wanted to demonstrate.

References

- L. J. Dixon, A brief introduction to modern amplitude methods, in Theoretical Advanced Study Institute in Elementary Particle Physics: Particle Physics: The Higgs Boson and Beyond, pp. 31–67, 2014, 1310.5353, DOI.
- [2] H. Elvang and Y.-t. Huang, Scattering Amplitudes, 1308.1697.
- [3] N. Arkani-Hamed, T.-C. Huang and Y.-t. Huang, Scattering amplitudes for all masses and spins, JHEP 11 (2021) 070 [1709.04891].
- [4] G. Travaglini et al., The SAGEX review on scattering amplitudes, J. Phys. A 55 (2022) 443001 [2203.13011].
- J. M. Henn and J. C. Plefka, Scattering Amplitudes in Gauge Theories, vol. 883. Springer, Berlin, 2014, 10.1007/978-3-642-54022-6.

- S. Weinberg, The Quantum theory of fields. Vol. 1: Foundations. Cambridge University Press, 6, 2005, 10.1017/CBO9781139644167.
- [7] Z. Bern, L. J. Dixon, D. C. Dunbar and D. A. Kosower, Fusing gauge theory tree amplitudes into loop amplitudes, Nucl. Phys. B 435 (1995) 59 [hep-ph/9409265].
- [8] S. Abreu, R. Britto and C. Duhr, The SAGEX review on scattering amplitudes Chapter 3: Mathematical structures in Feynman integrals, J. Phys. A 55 (2022) 443004
 [2203.13014].
- [9] J. Blümlein and C. Schneider, The SAGEX review on scattering amplitudes Chapter 4: Multi-loop Feynman integrals, J. Phys. A 55 (2022) 443005 [2203.13015].
- [10] P. Baratella, C. Fernandez and A. Pomarol, Renormalization of Higher-Dimensional Operators from On-shell Amplitudes, Nucl. Phys. B 959 (2020) 115155 [2005.07129].
- [11] J. Elias Miró, J. Ingoldby and M. Riembau, EFT anomalous dimensions from the S-matrix, JHEP 09 (2020) 163 [2005.06983].
- [12] M. Jiang, T. Ma and J. Shu, Renormalization Group Evolution from On-shell SMEFT, JHEP 01 (2021) 101 [2005.10261].
- [13] P. Baratella, C. Fernandez, B. von Harling and A. Pomarol, Anomalous Dimensions of Effective Theories from Partial Waves, JHEP 03 (2021) 287 [2010.13809].
- [14] C. Cheung, K. Kampf, J. Novotny and J. Trnka, Effective Field Theories from Soft Limits of Scattering Amplitudes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 114 (2015) 221602 [1412.4095].
- [15] C. Cheung, K. Kampf, J. Novotny, C.-H. Shen and J. Trnka, On-Shell Recursion Relations for Effective Field Theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 041601 [1509.03309].
- [16] N. Christensen, H. Diaz-Quiroz, B. Field, J. Hayward and J. Miles, *Challenges with internal photons in constructive QED*, Nucl. Phys. B 993 (2023) 116278 [2209.15018].
- [17] N. Christensen and B. Field, Constructive standard model, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 016014 [1802.00448].
- [18] N. Christensen, B. Field, A. Moore and S. Pinto, Two-, three-, and four-body decays in the constructive standard model, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 065019 [1909.09164].
- [19] R. Aoude and C. S. Machado, The Rise of SMEFT On-shell Amplitudes, JHEP 12 (2019) 058 [1905.11433].
- [20] G. Durieux and C. S. Machado, Enumerating higher-dimensional operators with on-shell amplitudes, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 095021 [1912.08827].
- [21] N. Arkani-Hamed, T.-C. Huang and Y.-t. Huang, The EFT-Hedron, JHEP 05 (2021) 259 [2012.15849].

- [22] R. Balkin, G. Durieux, T. Kitahara, Y. Shadmi and Y. Weiss, On-shell Higgsing for EFTs, JHEP 03 (2022) 129 [2112.09688].
- [23] Q. Bonnefoy, G. Durieux, C. Grojean, C. S. Machado and J. Roosmale Nepveu, The seeds of EFT double copy, JHEP 05 (2022) 042 [2112.11453].
- [24] G. Durieux, T. Kitahara, Y. Shadmi and Y. Weiss, The electroweak effective field theory from on-shell amplitudes, JHEP 01 (2020) 119 [1909.10551].
- [25] C. S. Machado, S. Renner and D. Sutherland, Building blocks of the flavourful SMEFT RG, JHEP 03 (2023) 226 [2210.09316].
- [26] M. Accettulli Huber and S. De Angelis, Standard Model EFTs via on-shell methods, JHEP 11 (2021) 221 [2108.03669].
- [27] S. De Angelis, Amplitude bases in generic EFTs, JHEP 08 (2022) 299 [2202.02681].
- [28] H. Liu, T. Ma, Y. Shadmi and M. Waterbury, An EFT hunter's guide to two-to-two scattering: HEFT and SMEFT on-shell amplitudes, JHEP 05 (2023) 241 [2301.11349]
- [29] Y. Shadmi and Y. Weiss, Effective Field Theory Amplitudes the On-Shell Way: Scalar and Vector Couplings to Gluons, JHEP 02 (2019) 165 [1809.09644].
- [30] Z.-Y. Dong, T. Ma and J. Shu, Constructing on-shell operator basis for all masses and spins, 2103.15837.
- [31] T. Ma, J. Shu and M.-L. Xiao, Standard model effective field theory from on-shell amplitudes*, Chin. Phys. C 47 (2023) 023105 [1902.06752].
- [32] G. Durieux, T. Kitahara, C. S. Machado, Y. Shadmi and Y. Weiss, Constructing massive on-shell contact terms, JHEP 12 (2020) 175 [2008.09652].
- [33] S. De Angelis and G. Durieux, EFT matching from analyticity and unitarity, SciPost Phys. 16 (2024) 071 [2308.00035].
- [34] A. Falkowski, G. Isabella and C. S. Machado, On-shell effective theory for higher-spin dark matter, SciPost Phys. 10 (2021) 101 [2011.05339].
- [35] G. M. Salla, Characterising dark matter-induced neutrino potentials, Eur. Phys. J. C 83 (2023) 204 [2209.00442].
- [36] G. F. S. Alves, E. Bertuzzo and G. M. Salla, On-shell approach to neutrino oscillations, Phys. Rev. D 106 (2022) 036028 [2103.16362].
- [37] C. Cheung, K. Kampf, J. Novotny, C.-H. Shen, J. Trnka and C. Wen, Vector Effective Field Theories from Soft Limits, Phys. Rev. Lett. 120 (2018) 261602 [1801.01496].
- [38] L. Dai, I. Low, T. Mehen and A. Mohapatra, Operator Counting and Soft Blocks in Chiral Perturbation Theory, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 116011 [2009.01819].
- [39] N. Arkani-Hamed, F. Cachazo and J. Kaplan, What is the Simplest Quantum Field Theory?, JHEP 09 (2010) 016 [0808.1446].

- [40] C. Cheung, K. Kampf, J. Novotny, C.-H. Shen and J. Trnka, A Periodic Table of Effective Field Theories, JHEP 02 (2017) 020 [1611.03137].
- [41] G. F. Giudice, C. Grojean, A. Pomarol and R. Rattazzi, The Strongly-Interacting Light Higgs, JHEP 06 (2007) 045 [hep-ph/0703164].
- [42] F. Feruglio, The Chiral approach to the electroweak interactions, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 8 (1993) 4937 [hep-ph/9301281].
- [43] S. L. Adler, Consistency conditions on the strong interactions implied by a partially conserved axial vector current, Phys. Rev. 137 (1965) B1022.
- [44] S. Weinberg, The quantum theory of fields. Vol. 2: Modern applications. Cambridge University Press, 8, 2013, 10.1017/CBO9781139644174.
- [45] I. Low and Z. Yin, Ward Identity and Scattering Amplitudes for Nonlinear Sigma Models, Phys. Rev. Lett. 120 (2018) 061601 [1709.08639].
- [46] I. Low, Double Soft Theorems and Shift Symmetry in Nonlinear Sigma Models, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 045032 [1512.01232].
- [47] K. Kampf, J. Novotny, M. Shifman and J. Trnka, New Soft Theorems for Goldstone Boson Amplitudes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124 (2020) 111601 [1910.04766].
- [48] I. Low and Z. Yin, The Infrared Structure of Nambu-Goldstone Bosons, JHEP 10 (2018) 078 [1804.08629].
- [49] I. Low and Z. Yin, Soft Bootstrap and Effective Field Theories, JHEP 11 (2019) 078 [1904.12859].
- [50] Y.-J. Du and H. Luo, On single and double soft behaviors in NLSM, JHEP 08 (2015) 058 [1505.04411].
- [51] Q. Bonnefoy, C. Grojean and J. Kley, Shift-Invariant Orders of an Axionlike Particle, Phys. Rev. Lett. 130 (2023) 111803 [2206.04182].
- [52] R. Britto, F. Cachazo and B. Feng, New recursion relations for tree amplitudes of gluons, Nucl. Phys. B 715 (2005) 499 [hep-th/0412308].
- [53] R. Britto, F. Cachazo, B. Feng and E. Witten, Direct proof of tree-level recursion relation in Yang-Mills theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 94 (2005) 181602 [hep-th/0501052].
- [54] M. Chala, G. Guedes, M. Ramos and J. Santiago, Running in the ALPs, Eur. Phys. J. C 81 (2021) 181 [2012.09017].
- [55] M. Bauer, M. Neubert, S. Renner, M. Schnubel and A. Thamm, *The Low-Energy Effective Theory of Axions and ALPs*, *JHEP* 04 (2021) 063 [2012.12272].
- [56] S. Das Bakshi, J. Machado-Rodríguez and M. Ramos, Running beyond ALPs: shift-breaking and CP-violating effects, JHEP 11 (2023) 133 [2306.08036].

- [57] P. Benincasa and F. Cachazo, Consistency Conditions on the S-Matrix of Massless Particles, 0705.4305.
- [58] P. Benincasa and E. Conde, Exploring the S-Matrix of Massless Particles, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 025007 [1108.3078].
- [59] P. Benincasa and E. Conde, On the Tree-Level Structure of Scattering Amplitudes of Massless Particles, JHEP 11 (2011) 074 [1106.0166].
- [60] B. Bachu and A. Yelleshpur, On-Shell Electroweak Sector and the Higgs Mechanism, JHEP 08 (2020) 039 [1912.04334].
- [61] B. Bachu, Spontaneous symmetry breaking from an on-shell perspective, JHEP 02 (2024) 098 [2305.02502].
- [62] J. R. Ellis, M. K. Gaillard and D. V. Nanopoulos, A Phenomenological Profile of the Higgs Boson, Nucl. Phys. B 106 (1976) 292.
- [63] M. A. Shifman, A. I. Vainshtein, M. B. Voloshin and V. I. Zakharov, Low-Energy Theorems for Higgs Boson Couplings to Photons, Sov. J. Nucl. Phys. 30 (1979) 711.
- [64] A. I. Vainshtein, V. I. Zakharov and M. A. Shifman, *Higgs Particles, Sov. Phys. Usp.* 23 (1980) 429.
- [65] M. Bauer, M. Neubert and A. Thamm, Collider Probes of Axion-Like Particles, JHEP 12 (2017) 044 [1708.00443].
- [66] I. Brivio, O. J. P. Éboli and M. C. Gonzalez-Garcia, Unitarity constraints on ALP interactions, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 035027 [2106.05977].
- [67] M. Bauer, M. Heiles, M. Neubert and A. Thamm, Axion-Like Particles at Future Colliders, Eur. Phys. J. C 79 (2019) 74 [1808.10323].
- [68] M. Bauer, M. Neubert and A. Thamm, Analyzing the CP Nature of a New Scalar Particle via S->Zh Decay, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117 (2016) 181801 [1610.00009].
- [69] M. Bauer, M. Neubert and A. Thamm, The "forgotten" decay S -> Z+h as a CP analyzer, 1607.01016.
- [70] H. Song, H. Sun and J.-H. Yu, Effective field theories of axion, ALP and dark photon, JHEP 01 (2024) 161 [2305.16770].
- [71] H. Song, H. Sun and J.-H. Yu, Complete EFT operator bases for dark matter and weakly-interacting light particle, JHEP 05 (2024) 103 [2306.05999].
- [72] C. Grojean, J. Kley and C.-Y. Yao, *Hilbert series for ALP EFTs*, *JHEP* **11** (2023) 196 [2307.08563].
- [73] M. Chala, A. Díaz-Carmona and G. Guedes, A Green's basis for the bosonic SMEFT to dimension 8, JHEP 05 (2022) 138 [2112.12724].

- [74] H.-L. Li, Z. Ren, M.-L. Xiao, J.-H. Yu and Y.-H. Zheng, Operators for generic effective field theory at any dimension: on-shell amplitude basis construction, JHEP 04 (2022) 140 [2201.04639].
- [75] K. Fraser and M. Reece, Axion Periodicity and Coupling Quantization in the Presence of Mixing, JHEP 05 (2020) 066 [1910.11349].
- [76] P. Agrawal, J. Fan, M. Reece and L.-T. Wang, Experimental Targets for Photon Couplings of the QCD Axion, JHEP 02 (2018) 006 [1709.06085].
- [77] M. Reece, TASI Lectures: (No) Global Symmetries to Axion Physics, PoS TASI2022 (2024) 008 [2304.08512].
- [78] A. Alloul, N. D. Christensen, C. Degrande, C. Duhr and B. Fuks, FeynRules 2.0 A complete toolbox for tree-level phenomenology, Comput. Phys. Commun. 185 (2014) 2250 [1310.1921].
- [79] T. Hahn, Generating Feynman diagrams and amplitudes with FeynArts 3, Comput. Phys. Commun. 140 (2001) 418 [hep-ph/0012260].
- [80] V. Shtabovenko, R. Mertig and F. Orellana, New Developments in FeynCalc 9.0, Comput. Phys. Commun. 207 (2016) 432 [1601.01167].
- [81] V. Shtabovenko, R. Mertig and F. Orellana, FeynCalc 9.3: New features and improvements, Comput. Phys. Commun. 256 (2020) 107478 [2001.04407].
- [82] C. Csaki, S. Hong, Y. Shirman, O. Telem, J. Terning and M. Waterbury, Scattering amplitudes for monopoles: pairwise little group and pairwise helicity, JHEP 08 (2021) 029 [2009.14213].
- [83] A. V. Sokolov and A. Ringwald, *Electromagnetic Couplings of Axions*, 2205.02605.
- [84] A. V. Sokolov and A. Ringwald, Generic Axion Maxwell Equations: Path Integral Approach, Annalen Phys. 2023 (2023) [2303.10170].
- [85] J. F. Gunion and Z. Kunszt, Improved Analytic Techniques for Tree Graph Calculations and the G g q anti-q Lepton anti-Lepton Subprocess, Phys. Lett. B 161 (1985) 333.
- [86] L. J. Dixon, Calculating scattering amplitudes efficiently, in Theoretical Advanced Study Institute in Elementary Particle Physics (TASI 95): QCD and Beyond, pp. 539–584, 1, 1996, hep-ph/9601359.
- [87] B. I. Zwiebel, From Scattering Amplitudes to the Dilatation Generator in N=4 SYM, J. Phys. A 45 (2012) 115401 [1111.0083].
- [88] M. Wilhelm, Amplitudes, Form Factors and the Dilatation Operator in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM Theory, JHEP **02** (2015) 149 [1410.6309].
- [89] S. Caron-Huot and M. Wilhelm, Renormalization group coefficients and the S-matrix, JHEP 12 (2016) 010 [1607.06448].

- [90] D. Forde, Direct extraction of one-loop integral coefficients, Phys. Rev. D 75 (2007) 125019 [0704.1835].
- [91] P. Mastrolia, Double-Cut of Scattering Amplitudes and Stokes' Theorem, Phys. Lett. B 678 (2009) 246 [0905.2909].
- [92] W. T. Giele, Z. Kunszt and K. Melnikov, Full one-loop amplitudes from tree amplitudes, JHEP 04 (2008) 049 [0801.2237].
- [93] Z. Bern, L. J. Dixon and D. A. Kosower, Two-loop g -> gg splitting amplitudes in QCD, JHEP 08 (2004) 012 [hep-ph/0404293].
- [94] R. Britto, F. Cachazo and B. Feng, Generalized unitarity and one-loop amplitudes in N=4 super-Yang-Mills, Nucl. Phys. B 725 (2005) 275 [hep-th/0412103].
- [95] Z. Bern, L. J. Dixon, D. C. Dunbar and D. A. Kosower, One loop n point gauge theory amplitudes, unitarity and collinear limits, Nucl. Phys. B 425 (1994) 217 [hep-ph/9403226].
- [96] G. Passarino and M. J. G. Veltman, One Loop Corrections for e+ e- Annihilation Into mu+ mu- in the Weinberg Model, Nucl. Phys. B 160 (1979) 151.